PDF hosted at the Radboud Repository of the Radboud University Nijmegen

The following full text is a preprint version which may differ from the publisher's version.

For additional information about this publication click this link. http://hdl.handle.net/2066/195234

Please be advised that this information was generated on 2020-01-01 and may be subject to change.

IMAGINE: A comprehensive view of the interstellar medium, Galactic magnetic fields and cosmic rays

IMAGINE Consortium

François Boulanger,^{1,†} Torsten Enßlin,^{2,†} Andrew Fletcher,³ Philipp Girichidis,⁴ Stefan Hackstein,⁵ Marijke Haverkorn,^{6,†} Jörg R. Hörandel,^{6,7,†} Tess Jaffe,^{8,9,†} Jens Jasche,^{10,†} Michael Kachelrieß,¹¹ Kumiko Kotera,¹² Christoph Pfrommer,⁴ Jörg P. Rachen,^{6,†} Luiz F. S. Rodrigues,³ Beatriz Ruiz-Granados,^{13,14} Amit Seta,³ Anvar Shukurov,^{3,†} Günter Sigl,¹⁵ Theo Steininger,² Valentina Vacca,¹⁶ Ellert van der Velden,^{6,17} Arjen van Vliet,⁶ and Jiaxin Wang^{18,19}

- ¹LERMA/LRA, Observatoire de Paris, PSL Research University, CNRS, Sorbonne Université, UPMC Université Paris 06, Ecole Normale Supérieure, 75005 Paris, France
- ²Max Planck Institute for Astrophysics, Karl-Schwarschildstr. 1, 85741 Garching, Germany
- ³School of Mathematics, Statistics and Physics, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, NE1 7RU, UK
- ⁴Leibniz-Institut für Astrophysik Potsdam, An der Sternwarte 16, 14482 Potsdam, Germany
- ⁵Hamburger Sternwarte, Gojenbergsweg 112, 21029 Hamburg, Germany
- $^6 \text{Department}$ of Astrophysics/IMAPP, Radboud University, PO Box 9010, 6500 GL Nijmegen, , The Netherlands
- ⁷Nikhef, Science Park 105, 1098 XG Amsterdam, The Netherlands
- ⁸CRESST II, NASA Goddard Space Flight Center, Greenbelt, MD, 20771, USA
- ⁹Department of Astronomy, University of Maryland, College Park, MD, 20742, USA
- ¹⁰The Oskar Klein Centre, Department of Physics, Stockholm University, AlbaNova University Centre, SE 106 91 Stockholm, Sweden
- ¹¹Institutt for fysikk, NTNU, Trondheim, Norway
- ¹²Sorbonne Université, UPMC Univ. Paris 6 et CNRS, UMR 7095, Institut d'Astrophysique de Paris, 98 bis bd Arago, 75014 Paris, France
- ¹³Instituto de Astrofísica de Canarias. Vía Láctea, s/n. E-38205, La Laguna, Tenerife, Spain
- ¹⁴Departamento de Astrofísica. Universidad de La Laguna, E-38206, La Laguna, Tenerife, Spain

¹⁵Universität Hamburg, II. Institute for Theoretical Physics, Luruper Chaussee 149, 22761 Hamburg, Germany

[†]corresponding author

¹⁶INAF, Osservatorio Astronomico di Cagliari, Via della Scienza 5, I-09047 Selargius, Italy

¹⁷Centre for Astrophysics and Supercomputing, Swinburne University of Technology, PO Box 218, Hawthorn, VIC 3122, Australia

¹⁸Scuola Internazionale Superiore di Studi Avanzati, Via Bonomea 265, 34136 Trieste, Italy
 ¹⁹Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare, Sezione di Trieste, Via Bonomea 265, 34136 Trieste, Italy

E-mail: francois.boulanger@ias.u-psud.fr, ensslin@mpa-garching.mpg.de, m.haverkorn@astro.ru.nl, j.horandel@astro.ru.nl, tess.jaffe@nasa.gov, jens.jasche@fysik.su.se, j.rachen@astro.ru.nl, anvar.shukurov@newcastle.ac.uk

Abstract. In this white paper we introduce the IMAGINE Consortium and its scientific background, goals and structure. The purpose of the consortium is to coordinate and facilitate the efforts of a diverse group of researchers in the broad areas of the interstellar medium, Galactic magnetic fields and cosmic rays, and our overarching goal is to develop more comprehensive insights into the structures and roles of interstellar magnetic fields and their interactions with cosmic rays within the context of Galactic astrophysics. The ongoing rapid development of observational and numerical facilities and techniques has resulted in a widely felt need to advance this subject to a qualitatively higher level of self-consistency, depth and rigour. This can only be achieved by the coordinated efforts of experts in diverse areas of astrophysics involved in observational, theoretical and numerical work. We present our view of the present status of this research area, identify its key unsolved problems and suggest a strategy that will underpin our work. The backbone of the consortium is the Interstellar MAGnetic *field INference Engine*, a publicly available Bayesian platform that employs robust statistical methods to explore the multi-dimensional likelihood space using any number of modular inputs. This tool will be used by the IMAGINE Consortium to develop an interpretation and modelling framework that provides the method, power and flexibility to interfuse information from a variety of observational, theoretical and numerical lines of evidence into a self-consistent and comprehensive picture of the thermal and non-thermal interstellar media. An important innovation is that a consistent understanding of the phenomena that are directly or indirectly influenced by the Galactic magnetic field, such as the deflection of ultra-high energy cosmic rays or extragalactic backgrounds, is made an integral part of the modelling. The IMAGINE Consortium, which is informal by nature and open to new participants, hereby presents a methodological framework for the modelling and understanding of Galactic magnetic fields that is available to all communities whose research relies on a state of the art solution to this problem.

Keywords: Galactic magnetic fields, interstellar medium, theory of cosmic magnetism, cosmic rays

ArXiv ePrint: 1805.02496

A tribute to John Lennon

Contents

1	Introduction				
	1.1	1 IMAGINE aims			
	1.2	IMAGINE science	2		
	1.3	3 IMAGINE methods			
	1.4	Structure of the paper	4		
2	Galactic science				
	2.1	1 The multi-phase interstellar medium			
	2.2	2 Galactic cosmic rays			
	2.3	The Galactic magnetic field	7		
		2.3.1 Observational tracers	7		
		2.3.2 Large-scale magnetic field components	12		
		2.3.3 Small-scale magnetic field components and interstellar turbulence	13		
	2.4	Dynamo theory as applied to the GMF	14		
		2.4.1 Mean-field dynamo	14		
		2.4.2 Turbulent magnetic fields	16		
		2.4.3 Beyond the basic theory	16		
		2.4.4 Plasma processes	17		
	2.5	Indirect dark matter detection	17		
3	Extragalactic science				
	3.1	3.1 Structure formation			
	3.2	Galaxy formation and evolution	19		
	3.3	3 Ultra-high energy cosmic rays			
	3.4	4 Extragalactic backgrounds			
		3.4.1 Cosmic microwave background	23		
		3.4.2 Epoch of reionisation	23		
		3.4.3 Large-scale extragalactic and primordial magnetic fields	24		
4	Approaches and methods				
	4.1	Introduction to Bayesian methods	26		
		4.1.1 Bayesian inference	26		
		4.1.2 Parametric vs. non-parametric methods	26		
		4.1.3 Likelihood	27		
		4.1.4 Prior, posterior and knowledge update	27		
		4.1.5 Evidence and background information	28		
		4.1.6 Numerical approaches to Bayesian inference	28		
	4.2	Parametric models of the GMF	29		
		4.2.1 Current heuristic models of the GMF	29		
		4.2.2 Physical parametric models	30		
		4.2.3 Challenges for parametric modelling	31		
	4.3	Non-parametric reconstruction of the GMF			
	4.4	Observational input	32		
		4.4.1 Rotation measure and Faraday depth	32		

		4.4.2	Synchrotron emission	32
		4.4.3	Polarisation of starlight	33
		4.4.4	Polarised dust emission	33
		4.4.5	Ultra-high energy cosmic ray deflections	33
	4.5	Galactic priors		34
		4.5.1	Parameter priors	34
		4.5.2	Field priors	35
	4.6	Extragalactic priors		35
		4.6.1	Galaxies	35
		4.6.2	UHECR source and arrival direction distribution	36
5	IMA	36		
	5.1	Design	36	
	5.2	The ha	ammurabi code	38
	5.3	Sampl	ler	39
	5.4	NIFTy	/	40
6	IMA	GINE	Consortium	40

1 Introduction

1.1 IMAGINE aims

In many areas of astrophysics, the magnetic fields are the least understood component and yet one of the most important. From the cosmological question of structure formation to the shapes of dusty filaments in the interstellar medium (ISM), magnetic fields on all scales play a critical role that has often been neglected. In the Milky Way, the Galactic magnetic fields (GMFs) affect all phases of the ISM from the propagation of relativistic cosmic rays to the collapse of cold dust clouds. Beyond our galaxy, the detection of primordial magnetic fields, the role of magnetic feedback in galaxy formation, and the structure of extragalactic large-scale magnetic fields are not only important in their dynamical role; for many research areas they also turn out to be a nuisance. The polarised Galactic foregrounds are the main challenge for the detection of primordial gravitational waves with the cosmic microwave background (CMB), and for ultra-high energy cosmic rays (UHECRs), Galactic and extragalactic magnetic fields blur our view of their sources.

In nearly every context, the properties of the magnetic fields and particles as well as the properties and dynamics of the emergent structures are entangled and interdependent. Studies of any one piece of the puzzle alone are bound to be limited in scope and likely to be biased in their results. Until recently, that was the best we could do to make the problem tractable. But we now have the observational, computational, and mathematical tools to start to bring all these threads together. The different contexts and different effects provide complementary information that we can now combine.

The IMAGINE Consortium was conceived to join the experts in these disparate topics into a single team for a comprehensive study of the Galactic magnetic field. We will use all available data, from traditional observables such as synchrotron emission and Faraday rotation measures, to newer tracers such as polarised thermal dust emission and UHECR deflections. To model the components of the magnetised ISM, we will use not only heuristic models of the Galaxy motivated by observations, e.g., with spiral arm segments and field reversals, but also theoretically motivated parametric models and finally non-parametric models constrained by fundamental magnetohydrodynamics (MHD). We



Figure 1. Structure of the IMAGINE project. See text for further explanation.

will further include constraints from dynamo theory and knowledge gained from observations of nearby galaxies.

The *IMAGINE* project is based on Bayesian methods, which are particularly important for solving interdependent problems, e.g., the origin *and* deflection of UHECRs. They also provide a robust quantification of what we have learned with each additional piece of the analysis puzzle. Our goal is to provide a standard framework for updating our knowledge of the structure of the GMF with new data from next generation observational facilities, new analysis techniques, and advances in theoretical understanding. The core of the project is the recently released *IMAGINE* pipeline [1], a publicly available and modular software infrastructure. An overview of the *IMAGINE* project is depicted in figure 1 and its science goals briefly outlined in the following paragraphs. The current paper is thought of as a white paper for the *IMAGINE* project and aims to give a summary of the various research fields involved and the impact *IMAGINE* will have.

1.2 IMAGINE science

Members of the IMAGINE Consortium are actively researching in different areas of Galactic science that are important for understanding the GMF. These include but are not limited to the following:

- The multi-phase ISM (section 2.1): magnetic fields are a crucial component of the ISM ecosystem and have a complex interdependence on the thermal gas and dust, the relativistic particles, the star formation, supernovae, etc.
- Galactic cosmic rays (section 2.2): cosmic rays diffuse through the Galaxy, couple to the magnetic fields, and affect the dynamics of the ISM and of the entire Galaxy.

- The Galactic magnetic field (section 2.3): a variety of complementary observational tracers tell us about the morphology of the large-scale coherent magnetic field, the statistical and morphological properties of its small-scale turbulent structures, and the interplay between them.
- Dynamo and MHD theory (section 2.4): MHD theory constrains the morphology of the GMF on both large and small scales and is crucial for understanding the turbulence in the ISM.

All these research areas are described in more detail throughout the paper in the sections referenced above. Beyond this, there are also various extragalactic and cosmological topics that contribute to, or profit from, our understanding of the GMF, such as:

- Large-scale structure formation (section 3.1): the distribution of matter in our local Universe and its formation history affect most extragalactic tracers important for *IMAGINE*, such as UHECR sources or extragalactic magnetic fields.
- Galaxy formation and evolution (section 3.2): feedback processes are important in galaxy formation and evolution, and the role of magnetic fields and cosmic rays is central but not yet well understood.
- Ultra-high energy cosmic rays (section 3.3): an improved understanding of the GMF will help us trace UHECRs back to their sources, and likewise, UHECR deflections help us trace the GMF.

Finally, there are various Galactic and extragalactic backgrounds that are of interest for fundamental physics, which will greatly profit from an improved understanding of large-scale structure, the GMF, MHD turbulence, etc. These include cosmological topics from primordial magnetic fields and gravitational waves to the epoch of reionisation (section 3.4), as well as the potential signal of dark matter annihilation from our own galaxy (section 2.5).

1.3 IMAGINE methods

To join all these different research fields in the common goal of modelling the GMF, we have developed the *Interstellar MAGnetic field INference Engine* (also referred to as the *IMAGINE* pipeline), a framework with the power and flexibility to include information from all of these different fields. The *IMAGINE* pipeline is a Bayesian platform that takes advantage of robust statistical methods to explore the multi-dimensional likelihood space using any number of modular inputs (section 4). These inputs include:

- *data*, i.e., all possible tracers of magnetic fields, from Faraday rotation measures (RMs) through submillimeter dust polarisation to UHECR deflections (section 4.4);
- *Galaxy simulations*, i.e., formulations of models for the magnetic fields (parametric, section 4.2, or non-parametric, section 4.3) and other Galaxy components, and the simulated observables generated from them;
- independent *likelihood* evaluations (section 4.1.3) to compare the mock data to the observed data taking full account of any uncertainties;
- the mathematical expression of theoretical constraints or knowledge from observations of external galaxies, etc., in the form of Bayesian *priors* (section 4.1.4);
- efficient *samplers* for exploring the multi-dimensional likelihood space (section 4.1.6);

Table 1. Acronyms introduced and used in the text, software packages and experiments exclusion					
CMB	cosmic microwave background	IFT	information field theory		
DM	dark matter	ISM	interstellar medium		
EoR	epoch of reionisation	MCMC	Markov chain Monte Carlo		
GCR	Galactic cosmic ray	MHD	magnetohydrodynamics		
GMF	Galactic magnetic field	RM	rotation measure		
EGMF	extragalactic magnetic field	UHECR	ultra-high energy cosmic ray		

• the computation of the Bayesian evidence to quantify what we have learned from different models (section 4.1.5).

The infrastructure is summarised in section 5 and described in detail in [1] along with its first results. In that paper, we demonstrate the pipeline on both simulated and real data using a simple GMF model and a subset of the available observables. That first application demonstrates not only the technical success of the pipeline but also the complexity of the task. Our preliminary results underline the need for a comprehensive Bayesian approach with physically motivated priors, i.e., precisely the challenge that we describe here.

1.4 Structure of the paper

This white paper describes the *IMAGINE* project in detail. In section 2, we give an overview of the various topics in Galactic astrophysics that will contribute to and/or benefit from IMAGINE, while in section 3 we discuss extragalactic astrophysics and the cosmological connections. In section 4, we discuss the information theoretical framework of *IMAGINE* and in particular how we harness the power of Bayesian statistics to tackle this challenge. In section 5, we briefly describe the software package we have developed and how it can be used to add inputs (whether these are data, models, or priors) from all of these different fields of astrophysics as well as others we may not yet have foreseen.

2 Galactic science

The motivation for the IMAGINE project comes from several directions simultaneously, and the most immediate is the need to understand our own galaxy. Here, we review the topics in Galactic astrophysics that will be advanced by IMAGINE.

2.1 The multi-phase interstellar medium

The ISM is conventionally separated into thermal and non-thermal parts, the latter represented by magnetic fields and cosmic rays and too often neglected. With the development of modern observational and numerical techniques, this division is becoming more and more inappropriate. The ISM of a spiral galaxy is a complex system whose constituent parts may be explored in isolation only as a preliminary investigation, often with little confidence in qualitative or quantitative fidelity.

Magnetic fields and cosmic rays contribute significantly to the structure and evolution of the ISM and the host galaxy. They affect the accretion of gas by dark matter (DM) haloes [2] as well as the outflows and inflows in galaxies that have already formed [3]. Magnetic fields and cosmic rays can significantly affect galactic outflows (fountains and winds) through their effect on the multiphase structure of the interstellar gas, as they confine hot gas bubbles produced by supernovae [4, 5]. According to numerical simulations, a magnetised multi-phase ISM can be more homogeneous than a purely thermal one [6]. Non-thermal effects modify the self-regulation of star formation in spiral galaxies and its effects on the intergalactic gas ([7, 8], and references therein). The magnetic contribution to the overall structure of a galactic gaseous disc is at least as important as that from other sources of interstellar pressure (i.e., thermal, turbulent, and cosmic ray pressure terms), as all of them are of comparable magnitude [9, 10]. Half of the total interstellar pressure is thus due to non-thermal contributions, and magnetic fields therefore directly affect the mean gas density. In turn, this significantly affects the star formation rate. It is therefore surprising that the role of magnetic fields and cosmic rays in galaxy evolution has avoided attention for so long [11, 12]. Magnetic fields also regulate star formation locally by controlling the collapse and fragmentation of molecular clouds [13, 14]. Magnetic fields contribute to interstellar gas dynamics not only directly but also by confining cosmic rays [15–17]. The latter are effectively weightless and so are capable of driving galactic outflows [18–24], thus providing negative feedback on star formation in galactic discs [25, 26].

The crucial role that magnetism plays in the ecosystem of a galaxy has been known for years, but only recently have advances in detection methods, technology, and computer power made major leaps forward and allowed comprehensive studies of galactic magnetic fields. As a result, it has become clear that simple models of large-scale galactic magnetic fields following galactic spiral arms are utterly inadequate. Recent data from large multi-wavelength radio-polarimetric surveys have allowed refinement of these models including, e.g., anisotropic turbulence and/or vertical field components. However, these models are still data-starved, and inclusion of magnetic field information through other sources than radio polarimetry is therefore needed.

2.2 Galactic cosmic rays

Cosmic rays are ionised atomic nuclei, electrons, and positrons, and their elemental abundance resembles roughly the average abundance in the Solar System. They have an energy density of about 1 eV/cm^3 , comparable to that of the Galactic magnetic field. They are believed to be accelerated mostly by first-order Fermi processes at strong shocks in sources such as supernova remnants, and they then propagate through the Galaxy.

The propagation of Galactic cosmic rays (GCRs) is a combination of advection with the plasma as well as streaming and diffusion. In the ideal MHD approximation, magnetic fields are flux-frozen into the plasma and thus advected with the flow. Cosmic rays are bound to gyrate along individual field lines and are advected alongside the moving plasma. As they propagate, they resonantly excite Alfvén waves, which scatter the cosmic rays. As a result, the GCR distribution (partially) isotropizes in the reference frame of Alfvén waves, i.e., low-energy GCRs stream down their gradient [27]. MHD turbulence maintained at larger scales by other sources can also scatter cosmic rays, redistributing their pitch angles, but leaving their energy unchanged. This can be described as anisotropic diffusion.

From our local perspective in the Milky Way, the GCR propagation is dominated by streaming and diffusion, since the Sun is almost perfectly co-moving with the orbiting ISM around the Galactic centre. Note that this is not the case if cosmic rays travel large distances from their sources to us due to differential rotation of the ISM, which makes advection more important. As mentioned above, GCR protons with energies ≤ 100 GeV are dynamically coupled to the ISM via self-generation of and scattering at Alfvén waves. Hence, they cannot be treated as "test particles" in a static background, as their back-reaction is important for the dynamics of the ISM and the turbulent magnetic field at scales comparable to the Larmor (gyration) radius. At significantly larger scales, the MHD turbulence is likely to be affected more weakly and the test particle approximation remains a useful tool in studies of cosmic ray propagation. Inferences of the cosmic ray pressure distribution via frameworks such as *IMAGINE* thus hold the promise to quantify the dynamical impact of cosmic rays on the ISM and, by extension, on important physical processes that are relevant for galaxy formation (see section 3.2).



Figure 2. Combined cosmic ray anisotropy of the Tibet-AS and IceCube experiments in the equatorial coordinate system. See [29] for detailed information.¹

At GCR proton energies $\geq 100 \text{ GeV}$, the decreasing cosmic ray energy density implies a significantly smaller growth rate of the resonantly excited Alfvén waves. Turbulent and non-linear Landau damping leads to a low amplitude of magnetic fluctuations that are not sufficient to self-confine cosmic rays to the Alfvén frame, and their propagation becomes mostly diffusive, until the diffusion picture breaks down for cosmic rays with energies $\geq 10^{14} \text{ eV}$. These changes in the mode of propagation manifest themselves in the form of breaks and deviations from the power-law spectrum in rigidity of GCR nuclei. Most importantly in the context of *IMAGINE*, the diffusion tensor is connected to the local orientation of the GMF. In an alternative approach, one numerically calculates the trajectories of individual GCR particles, solving the Lorentz equation in the turbulent and regular GMF. It has been demonstrated [28] that this method allows one to derive global constraints on the properties of the GMF. In particular, the deduced density $n(\vec{x}, E)$ of GCR electrons is an important input in the determination of the GMF via synchrotron radiation, while the GMF in turn determines the propagation of cosmic rays. These simple examples illustrate that the properties of the GMF and of GCRs are entangled: deducing these properties therefore requires a joint analysis with a comprehensive approach like *IMAGINE*.

During propagation, GCRs inelastically interact with nuclei of the ISM, producing (radioactive) nuclei, (anti-)protons, electrons, positrons, and neutrinos as secondary particles in hadronic interactions as well as gamma-ray emission from decaying pions. The secondary electrons/positrons produce secondary radio synchrotron and inverse Compton gamma-ray emission. We can learn about the GCR sources and the diffusion process of cosmic rays in the Milky Way by comparing the modelled primary and the calculated secondary fluxes to observations [30]. Observational data from, e.g., Fermi-LAT, CTA and IceCube, will extend this information to yet higher cosmic ray energies.

These non-thermal radiative GCR and GMF tracers throughout the Galaxy are complemented by cosmic ray measurements at the Earth: the ratio of primary (accelerated at the sources) to secondary (produced through spallation during the propagation processes) cosmic ray nuclei, like the boron-to-carbon ratio, is a measure for the matter traversed by cosmic rays (see e.g., [31]). The resulting column density amounts to about 10 g/cm^2 at GeV energies, decreasing as a function of energy

¹Reprinted from Progress in Particle and Nuclear Physics, Vol. 94, M. Ahlers and P. Mertsch, *Origin of small-scale anisotropies in Galactic cosmic rays*, figure 2, pg. 187, © (2017), with permission from Elsevier

 $\propto E^{-1/3}$. At energies around $E = 3 \cdot 10^{15}$ eV, the all-particle energy spectrum of cosmic rays exhibits a change in the spectral index. Measurements indicate that the individual elements in the cosmic ray chemical composition exhibit a fall-off roughly proportional to the rigidity [32, 33]. The rigiditydependent fall-off of individual elements is most likely due to a combination of the maximum energy attained in the accelerators and leakage from the Galaxy during the propagation processes [34]. Using gamma-ray astronomy, the fall-off of the energy spectrum can be observed at the sources directly (e.g., [35]). This provides an opportunity to infer the spectral behaviour of the (hadronic) cosmic rays at the sources. The differences in the fall-offs observed for cosmic rays at the Earth is due to the propagation processes (leakage from the Galaxy), which are in turn connected to the GMF. Recently, several experiments have detected small-scale anisotropies in the arrival directions of TeV cosmic rays at the level of 10^{-3} ([36, 37], see figure 2). Explaining these anisotropies requires a detailed understanding of the GMF structure at a very wide range of scales.

2.3 The Galactic magnetic field

In this section, we will briefly review the main observational tracers of the GMF and the knowledge gained from them. For more extensive reviews, see e.g., [38–40].

2.3.1 Observational tracers

There is a rich set of observational tracers that depend on magnetic fields. However, each of them probes only certain features of the magnetic field, e.g., only the strength or the direction/orientation, or only the component parallel or perpendicular to the line-of-sight. In addition, these tracers are sensitive to magnetic fields in a specific medium, such as cold clouds, diffuse ionized gas, or the non-thermal synchrotron-emitting plasma. This means that there is no ideal tracer of GMFs and that *all* relevant tracers should be included to obtain a complete picture. Below, we briefly discuss the main known observational tracers of the large-scale and small-scale GMF components.² In section 4.4, we will discuss which specific data sets of these observational tracers will be used as input for *IMAGINE*.

Faraday rotation

Faraday rotation is the birefringence of left-circularly and right-circularly polarised radiation travelling through a magnetised plasma. As a result, the polarisation angle of linearly polarised radiation χ rotates as a function of wavelength λ as

$$\chi = \chi_0 + \operatorname{RM} \lambda^2,$$

where χ_0 is the intrinsic polarisation angle with which the radiation is emitted, and RM is the rotation measure defined as

$$\left(\frac{\text{RM}}{\text{rad }m^2}\right) = 0.812 \int_{\text{source}}^{\text{observer}} \left(\frac{n_e(s)}{\text{cm}^{-3}}\right) \left(\frac{\vec{B}(s) \cdot \text{d}\vec{s}}{\mu \text{G} \cdot \text{pc}}\right),\tag{2.1}$$

where $n_e(s)$ and $\vec{B}(s)$ are the thermal electron density and magnetic vector field in the intervening medium, respectively, at distance *s* away from the observer. Extragalactic radio sources therefore allow the construction of images of the total projected GMF (see figure 3 and [41]), whereas RMs from pulsars at different distances provide tomographic information.

²We discuss only those tracers for which we have enough data to probe the diffuse interstellar medium. Tracers of dense, cold gas and specific (star forming or circumstellar) environments, such as Zeeman splitting or masers, will not be discussed here.



Figure 3. All-sky map of Faraday rotation by Oppermann et al. [41] revealing the line-of-sight component of the Galactic magnetic field.³

However, if the synchrotron emitting and Faraday rotating media are mixed, RM is no longer given by eq. (2.1). Instead we derive a Faraday spectrum, which is defined as the polarised intensity as a function of *Faraday depth*, ϕ . Faraday depth is obtained by eq. (2.1), with the distinction that now the integration boundaries vary as a function of distance along the line-of-sight [42, 43].

Estimates of magnetic field strength from Faraday rotation measure rely on the assumption that B_{\parallel} and n_e are uncorrelated, so $B_{\parallel} \propto \text{RM}/(\langle n_e \rangle L)$, where L is the line-of-sight extent of the magneto-ionic medium and $\langle n_e \rangle$ is the average electron number density. However, this assumption is questionable wherever the magnetic field is strong enough to affect the gas distribution. Assuming that the ISM is in pressure equilibrium, n_e and B are shown to be anti-correlated [44], which can significantly affect estimates of B_{\parallel} from RM. The relation between GMF strength and gas density in the multi-phase ISM needs to be understood in detail in order to better interpret the RM observations.

Synchrotron intensity

Synchrotron radiation emitted by cosmic ray electrons interacting with the GMF has an intensity I(v) defined as

$$I(\nu) \propto \int n_{\rm CR}(\nu, s) B^{1+\alpha}_{\perp}(s) \nu^{-\alpha} \,\mathrm{d}s,$$

where $n_{CR}(v, s)$ is the cosmic ray number density as a function of frequency v and path length s. Here, the cosmic ray number density per energy interval dE is assumed to follow a power law

$$n_{\rm CR}(E) \propto E^{-\gamma} dE$$

with $\gamma = 2\alpha + 1$. A typical value of the cosmic ray spectral index in the Galactic ISM is $\gamma \approx 2.4$, which leads to the widely observed $\alpha = 0.7$. However, at low frequencies (typically below a few

³Excerpt from figure 3 in N. Oppermann et al., A&A, Vol. 542, A93 (2012), reproduced with permission © ESO



Figure 4. Test particle simulations of the propagation of cosmic rays in a random magnetic field (figures 2 and 8 in [45]); the particles' Larmor radius is 6% of the correlation length of the magnetic field. *Left-hand panel:* isosurfaces of the strength of a random magnetic field \vec{B} produced by the fluctuation dynamo, $B^2/B_0^2 = 12$ (blue) and 15 (yellow), with B_0 the root-mean square field strength. The magnetic field is intermittent, its correlation length is about 40 times smaller than the correlation length of the chaotic flow that generates it. *Right-hand panel:* isosurfaces of the cosmic ray number density in the magnetic field of the left-hand panel at $n_{\rm CR}/n_0 = 3.5$, where n_0 is the mean value of $n_{\rm CR}$. The cosmic ray and magnetic field strength distributions are statistically independent. The number density of cosmic ray particles is larger in random magnetic traps between magnetic mirrors. Reproduced from [45]. © 2017 The Authors Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of the Royal Astronomical Society.

100 MHz), one has to start taking into account effects like free-free absorption and synchrotron selfabsorption, which will alter the spectrum. Since the synchrotron emissivity only depends on the magnetic field component perpendicular to the line-of-sight, it is therefore complementary to the diagnostic of Faraday rotation.

A significant complication in the interpretation of the observed synchrotron intensity is the uncertain knowledge of the number density of cosmic ray electrons. An assumption almost universally adopted to estimate magnetic field strength from synchrotron intensity is that of energy equipartition between cosmic rays and the GMF (or its variant), combined with a further assumption that cosmic ray electrons contain 1% of the total cosmic ray energy or number density ([46], and references therein). This assumption is applied to the synchrotron intensity observed locally, at the working resolution of the observations; in other words, $n_{\rm CR}$ and $|\vec{B}|^2$ are assumed to be perfectly correlated at all scales. Direct verifications of the CR-GMF equipartition based on gamma-ray observations are rare and inconclusive, and its physical justification is not entirely convincing. Analyses of the synchrotron fluctuations in the Milky Way and M33 are not consistent with this assumption at scales of order 100 pc [47, 48]. Using test particle simulations of cosmic ray propagation in random magnetic fields (either intermittent or Gaussian), The distributions of $n_{\rm CR}$ and $|\vec{B}|^2$ are found to be not just uncorrelated but statistically independent [45]. Nevertheless, the two distributions are related, as shown in figure 4, but in a more subtle manner: cosmic rays are trapped between random magnetic mirrors whose occurrence is controlled not by magnetic field strength but rather by its geometry. These results strongly suggest that the CR–GMF equipartition does not occur at the turbulent scales

even though it may be relevant at kpc scales [47]. Understanding the relationship between the cosmic rays and the GMF requires careful further analysis in order to convincingly interpret the synchrotron observations in terms of the magnetic field strength.

Synchrotron polarisation

Synchrotron emission is intrinsically highly linearly polarised, with a polarisation degree given by

$$\Pi = \frac{3\gamma + 3}{3\gamma + 7},$$

which means $\Pi = 72\%$ for $\gamma = 2.4$. However, this high polarisation degree is almost never observed, because the radiation is partially depolarised when travelling from the source to the observer. The depolarisation can be wavelength independent, due to small-scale tangling of the magnetic field at the emission site, and/or wavelength dependent, due to magnetic field tangling including Faraday rotation. For a synchrotron emissivity $\epsilon(\vec{r}, \lambda)$, the observed polarisation vector is

$$P(\lambda^2) = \frac{\int \int \epsilon(\vec{r},\lambda) \Pi(\vec{r}) e^{2i(\chi_0 + \phi(\vec{r})\lambda^2)} \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}\Omega}{\int \int \epsilon(\vec{r},\lambda) \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}\Omega},$$

where integration over the solid angle $d\Omega$ defines the telescope beam. The polarised synchrotron emission traced by the *Planck* mission at 30 GHz is shown in the top panel of figure 5.

Polarised dust emission

The spin axis of a non-spherical dust grains is both perpendicular to its long axis and aligned, statistically, with the orientation of the local GMF [49, 50]. Microwave, sub-millimetre, and far-infrared emission from these dust grains will therefore be polarised along the long axis of the grain, i.e., perpendicular to the local magnetic field component projected onto the plane of the sky. The amount of alignment depends on local physical conditions and on the properties of dust grains (mainly their size and composition), but the analysis of *Planck* dust polarisation data indicates that the degree of grain alignment is high and homogeneous in the diffuse ISM including molecular cloud envelopes [51, 52]. The polarised dust emission traced by the *Planck* mission at 353 GHz is shown in the bottom panel of figure 5. The combination of *Planck* with higher frequency data from the BLASTPol ballon-borne experiment [53] shows no dependence of the dust polarisation fraction p on frequency. This constraint, along with the ratio of polarised dust emission to the polarisation fraction of optical interstellar polarisation [54], has been used to update dust models [55]. It suggests that the emission from a single grain type, which is efficiently aligned [50], dominates the long-wavelength emission of dust in both polarisation and total intensity.

Polarised optical/IR absorption by dust

The same dust grains that emit linearly polarised emission absorb the optical and near infrared light from stars behind, causing a linear polarisation of the starlight parallel to the local magnetic field component projected onto the plane of the sky. This linear polarisation, like the dust emission polarisation, depends on the physical properties of the dust grains. Stellar polarisation data have been compared with sub-millimetre dust polarisation measured by *Planck* on the same line-of-sight. The two polarisation measurements have comparable sensitivity and are closely correlated [54, 56]. They offer complementary means to map the GMF, and to study its correlation with the structure and dynamics of interstellar matter. Stellar data are limited to a discrete set of sight-lines but they offer unique 3D information on the GMF using stellar distances. Optical polarisation data (e.g., [57]) are best suited to map the GMF over the diffuse ISM in the Solar neighbourhood [58], while near-IR polarimetric observations (e.g., [59]) probe the GMF within molecular clouds [60] and the Galactic plane [61].



Figure 5. Synchrotron emission at 30 GHz (*top*) and dust emission at 353 GHz (*bottom*). The colour indicates the total intensity, while the texture applied shows the inferred plane-of-sky magnetic field direction, i.e., the polarisation direction rotated by 90° . See [63] for details.⁴

⁴From https://www.cosmos.esa.int/web/planck/picture-gallery, reproduced with permission from Astronomy & Astrophysics, © ESO; original source ESA and the Planck Collaboration.

2.3.2 Large-scale magnetic field components

The observable tracers summarised above make it convenient to describe the magnetic field as consisting of three components: a large-scale coherent or mean-field component (sometimes ambiguously referred to as the regular component); a small-scale random or turbulent component whose statistics are isotropic; and a third component that changes direction stochastically on small scales but whose orientation remains aligned over large scales, variously referred to as the anisotropic random component, the ordered random component, or the striated component. A description of how various observables trace these three components can be found in [62]. First, we discuss the coherent component.

As in external spiral galaxies, the magnetic field in the Milky Way is predominantly concentrated in the Galactic plane and approximately follows the spiral arms, as confirmed directly by starlight polarisation measurements and indirectly by modelling synchrotron radiation and RMs. A magnetic field reversal on scales of kpc has been unambiguously detected from pulsar RMs. However, observations cannot determine yet whether this reversal is azimuthal or follows the spiral arms, or whether this is a local feature or global along the entire spiral arm.

In current GMF models, spiral arms are commonly modelled as logarithmic spirals. However, there are multiple, heterogeneous, indications that this picture is oversimplified. GMF modelling of log-spiral arms independently in separate regions of the Galactic disk show that spiral arm locations and pitch angles seem to vary [64]. The pitch angle of the magnetic field towards the anti-centre seems to be around zero [65]. In addition, in nearby face-on spiral M51, spiral arm pitch angles are variable with radius and azimuth and depend on their tracer: gas, dust or magnetic field [66]. Also in the Milky Way, there are indications that GMF models with off-set dust and magnetic field spiral arms give better fits to synchrotron and thermal dust emission data [67].

The difficulties associated with the complexity of the observed spiral patterns, in either gas or magnetic field, are compounded by the lack of a comprehensive theory for the interaction of galactic dynamos with the spiral pattern and the incompleteness of the theory of the spiral patterns themselves [68, 69]. In particular, the 3D tracer of starlight polarisation will be imperative to constrain mesoscale deviations from logarithmic spirals, arm off-sets and/or varying pitch angles.

The Milky Way has an out-of-plane magnetic field component, probably similar to X-shaped halo fields detected in nearby edge-on spirals. Its direction in the Solar neighbourhood is still debated [70, 71] partly due to insufficient data but primarily due to uncertainties in local structures in the Northern Galactic hemisphere.

The strength of the coherent magnetic field as derived from pulsar RMs is $\sim 2\mu G$ (e.g., [72]), generally consistent with modelling of synchrotron radiation. The total magnetic field strength is $\sim 6\mu G$ at the Solar radius [73], increasing to $\sim 10\mu G$ at a Galacto-centric radius of 3 kpc [74]. Both the strength of the halo field and its scale height are very uncertain, with estimates in the literature of strengths between $2\mu G$ and $12\mu G$ and scale heights of ~ 1.5 kpc from pulsar RMs, to 5-6 kpc from synchrotron emissivities, assuming equipartition with cosmic rays (for an overview, see [38]).

However, comparison with nearby spirals makes clear that many uncertainties remain in our knowledge of the large-scale magnetic field in the Milky Way: a variety of symmetries and dynamo modes are observed (which are as yet unobservable in the Milky Way); magnetic fields follow spiral arms in general but not in detail [66]; the behaviour close to the Galactic centre (e.g., Galactic winds) is not understood; and large-scale reversals are not yet convincingly observed in nearby spirals (see [40] for a review). Three example models from the literature are shown in figure 6; all were fit to synchrotron emission and Faraday RM data but clearly have very different morphologies, which illustrates the modelling challenge.



Figure 6. Graphical representation⁵ of three example models for the coherent magnetic field component in the Milky Way: on the *left* is from Sun et al. [83]; in the *middle* is from Jansson & Farrar [84]; on the *right* is Jaffe et al. [67]. The colour represents the strength of the coherent magnetic component, the white arrows show its direction. The top panel of each shows a cut through the Galactic plane at z = 0 with the Sun position marked by the black plus, while the bottom panel of each shows a vertical cut intersecting the Sun and the Galactic centre.

2.3.3 Small-scale magnetic field components and interstellar turbulence

One of the main challenges of ISM research is to allow for the interconnectivity of all its components and their interactions. Since the energy densities of the cosmic rays, turbulent gas, radiation, and magnetic fields are comparable [10, 75], there are no passive tracers; instead, all ISM components deliver significant feedback to the system. Several studies show to what degree these components are connected. The *Planck* dust polarisation maps showed that filaments in the diffuse cold neutral medium are predominantly aligned with the local magnetic field [76], whereas filaments in dense molecular clouds are mostly perpendicular to the field [77]. This correlation between the structure of matter and that of the GMF is also observed for filamentary structures identified in spectroscopic HI data cubes [78, 79]. More surprisingly, in some – but not all – observations, Faraday depth filaments of polarised synchrotron emission seem to be aligned with the local magnetic field in the dusty neutral medium [80] or with HI filaments [81, 82].

For decades, the power spectrum of the small-scale component of the magnetic field was approximated by a power law with a certain coherence length, assuming Gaussianity. Observational estimates for the coherence length vary: averages of extragalactic source RMs over large parts of the sky suggest coherence scales of about 100 pc, while detailed studies in the Galactic plane suggest maximum scales of order 1–10 pc in spiral arms [85] and in the highly-polarised Fan Region [48].

However, the properties of magnetised interstellar turbulence *cannot* be captured using power spectra (and similar measures), because they are produced by random variations in the components of the ISM that are not Gaussian. A first phenomenological attempt to improve on a simple power law to denote the small-scale magnetic field in numerical simulations is to introduce two components: an isotropic random component generated by turbulence in the ionized gas, and an anisotropic random⁶

⁵Excerpt from figure 3 in Planck Collaboration, A&A, Vol. 596, A103 (2016), reproduced with permission © ESO. ⁶also called 'ordered' or 'striated' in the literature

component, which is random in direction but uniform in orientation. This anisotropic random component can be created, e.g., by a shock wave compressing an isotropic random field, or by Galactic shear. This division is motivated by the observational tracers, as described in the previous section, and is a first approximation of the predicted non-Gaussianity of magnetised turbulence (see also section 2.4.2). Global models show that the strengths of these random components are slightly higher than that of the coherent component but that the ratio of isotropic and anisotropic random fields varies across the Milky Way [62, 67, 84].

For this reason, synthetic observables that use Gaussian random fields to simulate fluctuations in the ISM do not look the same as those generated from numerical simulations. Tools to characterise shape and connectivity should be based on the mathematical theories of morphology and topology. Measures using rigorously defined properties such as the Minkowski functionals of morphology and the Betti numbers of topology, allow for comparisons between different datasets (both observed and simulated) that better take into account similarities and differences in their structure across different scales. Applications of such measures to the ISM and MHD simulations have already been made in morphology (e.g., [86, 87]) and topology (e.g., [88–91]). A recent statistical study [92] identified which combinations of topological measures have the strongest discriminatory power, illustrating new, effective ways in which these techniques can be used in practice. Methods from mathematical morphology and topology can be incorporated into the *IMAGINE* framework to allow for a more thorough and physically meaningful comparison between the different real and simulated data related to the GMF and the ISM. The complexity of modern simulations of the supernova-driven ISM that include cosmic rays and allow for the mean-field dynamo action is illustrated in figure 7.

2.4 Dynamo theory as applied to the GMF

Turbulent dynamo theory appears to be successful in explaining both the origin and the basic observed structure of the GMF at both galactic and turbulent scales, i.e., the mean ('coherent' or 'large-scale') and random (fluctuating or 'small-scale') magnetic fields. The discussion in this section relies on a combination of insights from observations and dynamo theory wherever they agree and, more importantly, where they do not. A condensed but systematic presentation of the current understanding of the galactic mean-field dynamo theory, with a compendium of useful qualitative results, can be found in [94]. Here, we provide a brief summary.

The generation of the small-scale magnetic fields by the fluctuation (or small-scale) dynamo relies on the random nature of the interstellar gas flows at scales of the order of $\leq 100 \text{ pc}$. If the electrical conductivity of the plasma is sufficiently high, so that the magnetic Reynolds number based on the flow correlation length exceeds a critical value of order 10^2 , a random plasma flow maintains a random magnetic field at scales smaller than the correlation scale of the flow ([95, 96], and references therein). According to dynamo theory, large-scale magnetic fields arise spontaneously because of the overall galactic rotation and stratification of the turbulent ISM. In the galactic context, they can be isolated in the total, partially ordered magnetic field via spatial averaging, hence for this theoretical section, we will refer to them as the mean-field component.

2.4.1 Mean-field dynamo

The mean-field dynamo equations that govern the mean magnetic field \vec{B} can be given in the following simplest form:

$$\frac{\partial \vec{B}}{\partial t} = \nabla \times \left(\vec{V} \times \vec{B} + \alpha \vec{B} \right) - \eta_{t} \nabla^{2} \vec{B} , \qquad \nabla \cdot \vec{B} = 0 , \qquad (2.2)$$

where $\vec{V} = (V_r, r\Omega(r, z), V_z)$ is the large-scale (mean) velocity field written in the cylindrical polar coordinates (r, ϕ, z) with the origin at the galactic centre and the *z*-axis aligned with the angular velocity $\vec{\Omega}$. The factor α is a measure of the deviations of the interstellar turbulence from mirror symmetry,

$$\alpha \simeq \frac{l_0^2 \Omega}{h} \,,$$

with l_0 the turbulent correlation length and *h* the scale height of the layer that hosts the dynamo, and $\eta_t \simeq \frac{1}{3}l_0v_0 \simeq 10^{26} \text{ cm}^2\text{s}^{-1}$ is the turbulent magnetic diffusivity with v_0 the root-mean-square (RMS) turbulent velocity. This equation can be rewritten to allow for anisotropy and inhomogeneity of the turbulence.

The single most important feature of a spiral galaxy that defines the form of its large-scale magnetic field is the thinness of its gaseous disc, which constrains the mean magnetic field to be oriented predominantly in the plane of the disc. Strong galactic differential rotation enhances the azimuthal component B_{ϕ} at the expense of the radial one B_r . As a result, the horizontal magnetic field assumes the shape of a spiral with a relatively small pitch angle, typically $p_B = \arctan(B_r/B_{\phi}) \approx -(10^\circ - 20^\circ)$. The vertical magnetic field is weaker than the horizontal components, but only on average. Locally, and most importantly near radial reversals of the magnetic field direction where $B_{\phi} = B_r = 0$, the mean magnetic field should be dominated by B_z . Another location where B_z is expected to dominate is a region within about 1 kpc of the galactic centre.

Furthermore, because galactic discs are thin, the global structure of the mean magnetic field



Figure 7. Isosurfaces of gas density *n* (blue), magnetic field \vec{B} lines (red), gas velocity \vec{u} streamlines (black) and cosmic ray energy density ϵ_{cr} (contours on the right-hand face), in MHD simulations of the supernovadriven, multi-phase ISM that extend the simulations of Gent et al. [93] by the inclusion of cosmic rays. Holes in the density distributions are supernova remnants; z = 0 at the *bottom*, $z \approx 2.2$ kpc at the *top*. (Simulation data: courtesy of G. R. Sarson, Newcastle University, UK.)

within the disc is *quadrupolar* in its spatial symmetry: the horizontal components of the mean magnetic field have the same sign above and below the mid-plane z = 0, whereas the vertical component is antisymmetric: $B_{r,\phi}(-z) = B_{r,\phi}(z)$ and $B_z(-z) = -B_z(z)$. Mean-field dynamo theory predicts that (quasi-)spherical bodies, unlike thin discs, generate mean fields of a *dipolar* parity, where $B_{r,\phi}(-z) = -B_{r,\phi}(z)$ and $B_z(-z) = B_z(z)$. Such magnetic fields are observed in the Sun and the Earth. It is plausible that the mean-field dynamo operates in galactic haloes. If the two parts of the halo are weakly magnetically connected, the mean magnetic field in the halo can have dipolar symmetry, opposite to that in the disc. Otherwise, the symmetry of the halo field may be controlled by the disc. Unfortunately, detailed and systematic observational information on the overall symmetry of the large-scale magnetic fields in galactic haloes is still lacking, while theoretical models remain oversimplified and do not allow for definite predictions.

Interstellar magnetic fields are induced by interstellar gas flows, and random (turbulent) flows are at the heart of both small-scale and large-scale dynamos. It is therefore not surprising that magnetic energy density scales with the kinetic energy density of interstellar turbulence, and the convenient measure of the magnetic field strength is that corresponding to this equipartition, $B_0 = (4\pi\rho v_0^2)^{1/2} \simeq 5 \,\mu\text{G}$, where $\rho \simeq 1.7 \cdot 10^{-24} \,\text{g/cm}^3$ and $v_0 \simeq 10 \,\text{km/s}$ are the gas mass density and the RMS random velocity, respectively.

2.4.2 Turbulent magnetic fields

Random magnetic fields in the ISM are produced and shaped by three dominant processes: the tangling of the mean field by the random flows, the fluctuation dynamo action and the compression by random shocks. The latter two mechanisms produce spatially intermittent magnetic fields where intense magnetic filaments, ribbons and sheets occur in the background of weaker fluctuations (e.g., [86, 97]). Such magnetic fields have strongly non-Gaussian statistical properties [98]. If the turbulent velocity has Gaussian statistics, so does the magnetic field produced by the tangling of the large-scale field. Estimates of the RMS magnetic field strength *b* from these mechanisms are rather vague, and $b \simeq B_0$ is the best available option.

2.4.3 Beyond the basic theory

The large-scale magnetic field produced during the kinematic (or exponentially growing) phase of a mean-field galactic dynamo is predicted to have rather specific symmetry properties. In particular, field patterns that are symmetric with respect to rotation about the axis of galactic rotation and that are also symmetric with respect to reflection in the mid-plane of the disc are predicted to grow fastest [99]. This preference for axial symmetry is supported by observations of a dozen nearby galaxies [100]. However, the well established presence of a reversal in the direction of the Milky Way's mean magnetic field complicates the picture; the extent of the problem for the theory critically depends on whether the reversal is local (e.g., [64, 101]) or global (e.g., [72]). As well as providing the best possible answer to this question given the available data, *IMAGINE* will also supply robust information about the strength and symmetry of the vertical component of the mean field.

The symmetry properties discussed above are only strictly relevant during the kinematic phase of the dynamo. Once the field is amplified sufficiently it may become strong enough to modify the flow (at least its turbulent component) and the resulting non-linear feedback may affect the observed properties of the field. Alternatively, the saturation process may involve the transport of the magnetic field out of the Galactic disc by a wind or fountain flow [102]. Recent attempts to use observations of nearby galaxies to identify the saturation mechanism were inconclusive [103], possibly because the available observables, in particular the magnetic pitch angle, are not sufficiently sensitive. A more detailed determination of the properties of the Milky Way's magnetic field, which will not be possible

for other galaxies in the medium term, could help to solve the problem. In particular, recent results from numerical simulations [6, 104] show that the saturated mean-field can have a maximum that is displaced from the mid-plane by a few hundred parsecs and that the ISM phase structure is modified as the field saturates. *IMAGINE* offers the prospect of determining the vertical profile of the magnetic field and thus makes a vital connection between observations and simulations of a mean-field dynamo in its non-linear state; this will enable the theory to move to a more advanced level.

The dynamo theory in its present form largely neglects the multi-phase structure of the ISM. Numerical simulations suggest that the large-scale magnetic field is maintained in the warm gas whereas the turbulent field is less sensitive to the multi-phase structure [104]. It remains unclear whether the mean-field dynamo acts within the complex and erratically evolving volume occupied by the warm phase alone or whether it responds to an 'average' ISM whose parameters can be obtained by spatial and temporal averaging. This problem can only be solved by the coordinated observational, theoretical and numerical efforts envisaged by *IMAGINE*.

2.4.4 Plasma processes

The spectrum of interstellar magnetic fields is known to extend from scales of order 100 pc down to Earth diameter scales ($\sim 10^9$ cm) and less [105, 106]. It is argued in [107] that the fluctuations extend down to the ion and electron Larmor radii where the turbulent energy is converted into heat. These are of order 10^8 cm and $3 \cdot 10^6$ cm, respectively, in the warm ionized interstellar gas. The dynamics of the turbulence in the inertial ranges, formed by non-linear interactions that vary widely in their physical nature across this broad range of scales, is universal and independent of the properties of the magnetic field at the larger scales of order 100 pc where the turbulence is driven. However, the energy input into the turbulent cascade is controlled by the properties of the GMF at scales larger than 100 pc. Moreover, intermittency can destroy the scale invariance of the turbulent cascade [108].

Essentially, interstellar turbulence is compressible, intermittent, MHD turbulence whose nature is complicated by the multi-phase ISM structure that leads to vastly different physical conditions at different positions and, at a fixed position, at different times. MHD turbulence theory has lately been advanced significantly ([109–115], and references therein), albeit not without controversy. Further insights into the nature and significance of the ISM turbulence are likely to follow from a recent extension of the theory of magnetised turbulence from an MHD approximation to kinetic plasma theory approaches [107, 116, 117]. The astrophysical significance of the theoretical progress remains to be understood, and appropriate observational techniques are waiting to be fully developed and implemented. The forthcoming observations with next-generation radio telescopes should permit a critical assessment of the theory. Apart from insights into the large-scale magnetic fields, *IMAGINE* would advance our understanding of magnetic fields at the turbulent scales and reveal the magnetohydrodynamic and plasma processes that control them.

Neither the MHD theory nor the observational modelling alone will make much progress on Galactic magnetic fields. *IMAGINE* will join the two in order to leverage their combined power and meet this important astrophysical challenge.

2.5 Indirect dark matter detection

We know that dark matter is the main driving force in structure formation, and thus crucial for the creation and evolution of galaxies such as our own, but we have not pinpointed its identity yet. There are three complementary ways of elucidating the nature of the DM particle and its properties [118]: (1) the production of DM in accelerator experiments; (2) direct detection by observing nuclear recoils from interactions of DM in a detector; and (3) indirect detection, i.e., experiments that search for stable secondaries, produced by annihilation or decay, that accumulate, e.g., in the Milky Way

or its surrounding dwarf galaxies. In this last approach, experimental efforts focus mostly on neutral messengers such as gamma-rays or neutrinos, which are particularly relevant to exploring the parameter space of heavy (~PeV) dark matter, and which are investigated with state-of-the-art or upcoming instruments like H.E.S.S., VERITAS, MAGIC, and CTA for gamma-rays as well as IceCube and KM3NeT for neutrinos.

A relevant charged particle channel for indirect detection of DM would be an excess of antimatter relative to the predictions for astrophysical backgrounds, as matter and antimatter are produced in equal amounts in DM annihilations or decays. Clearly, the identification of any DM signal in, e.g., the positron fraction in GeV cosmic rays seen by PAMELA and AMS [119, 120], requires an adequate understanding of the corresponding backgrounds. This requires improved modelling of the propagation of astrophysical cosmic rays, which in turn relies on a better understanding of the GMF. Moreover, predicting the secondary fluxes from DM annihilations or decays depends strongly on the properties of the GMF inside the Galactic halo, because DM resides in an extended, approximately spherical halo. Even in the case of a non-detection of DM, a more precise knowledge of the GMF would allow one to improve limits on DM properties.

3 Extragalactic science

The impact of the *IMAGINE* project reaches far beyond our own galaxy. Here we summarise the intimate connections between the goals of *IMAGINE* and three of the most active areas of extragalactic astrophysics and cosmology.

3.1 Structure formation

According to the current paradigm of cosmological structure formation all observable structures in the Universe originated from weak primordial quantum fluctuations generated during the early epoch of inflation. This model connects the large-scale dynamics of the Universe and the growth of inhomogeneous structures with an underlying gravitational world model. The currently favoured Λ CDM model assumes that the Universe is governed by general relativity and that its homogeneous, large scale dynamics can be described by a special case of a Friedmann-Lemaître-Robertson-Walker metric.

Most of our current cosmological knowledge originates from observations of the homogeneous expansion of the Universe via observations of type Ia supernovae, primordial temperature fluctuations in the CMB, or the linear fluctuations of matter at the largest scales in galaxy observations (see, e.g., [121, 122] and references therein). The ACDM model has been demonstrated to fit all these data, in particular the high precision CMB observations of the *Planck* mission to astonishing accuracy (see e.g., [123]). These results suggest that the gravitational evolution of the present Universe is governed by enigmatic dark matter and dark energy, constituting up to about 95% of the total cosmic energy budget. Although required to explain the formation of all observable structures within the standard picture of Einstein's gravity, so far dark matter and dark energy elude direct observations and have not yet been identified as particles within more fundamental theories [124].

New challenges arise from studying the non-linear and inhomogeneous distribution of matter in our Universe in greater detail. Due to non-linear gravitational interactions dark matter aggregates into massive clusters and cosmic filaments forming the so-called cosmic web. This three-dimensional configuration of matter is believed to be a unique result of the primordial initial conditions, set by inflation, and the subsequent hierarchical structure formation history in a cold dark matter scenario. These filaments form the pathways along which matter accretes onto the massive galaxy clusters, as observed in cosmological surveys. To study this filamentary distribution of matter in the Universe, novel Bayesian methods infer accurate and detailed maps of the 3D DM distribution from galaxy observations in the nearby Universe (see e.g., [125–127]). These methods fit 3D numerical models of non-linear gravitational structure formation to the data. In doing so they simultaneously reconstruct the initial conditions from which present cosmic structures originate as well as non-linear density and velocity fields in the present Universe including their respective dynamic formation histories (see e.g., [127]). This provides a completely new view of the dynamical large-scale structure formation in the nearby Universe and enables detailed studies of the non-linear DM distribution in nearby structures, such as the Coma or Shapley cluster. For the first time, these methods provide us with a conclusive statistical model of the large-scale 3D structure surrounding us and a detailed characterisation of its origins and non-linear formation histories.

The understanding of the large-scale structure of our local Universe and its formation history affects the extragalactic science done within *IMAGINE* in multiple ways. In particular, it serves as a fundamental prior for the structure of extragalactic magnetic fields and the distribution of UHECR sources and thus constrains the expected distribution of UHECRs outside the Galaxy. This information is required to use UHECRs as tracers for the large-scale GMF structure, as explained in section 4.4.5.

3.2 Galaxy formation and evolution

One of the most important aspects of cosmological structure formation in the context of *IMAGINE* is that of the formation and evolution of galaxies, with an immediate focus on the growth and evolution of their magnetic fields. A similarly interesting aspect is the potential of *IMAGINE* to aid in understanding some of the physical processes underlying galaxy formation. There are two possible routes: (a) *IMAGINE* analyses of the GMF in the Milky Way that can probe (non-thermal) feedback processes at exquisite angular resolution, but limited to low-to-moderate star formation rates in our galaxy; and (b) adapting *IMAGINE*-inspired tools to observations of nearby starburst galaxies, which in some respects resemble high-redshift galaxies that form stars at high rates at the peak of the galaxy formation epoch. Conversely, data obtained from observations of other galaxies can be used in *IMAGINE* as prior information for modelling the GMF, as discussed in section 4.6.1.

Within the ACDM paradigm, many aspects of galaxy formation and evolution are not well understood and appear to be in conflict with the data. Most prominently, the observed galaxy luminosity and HI-mass functions show much shallower faint-end slopes than predicted; this is locally known as the "missing satellites problem" of the Milky Way [128, 129]. At the same time, simulations predict an inner DM density cusp in galaxies seemingly at odds with the cored profiles observed in low surface brightness galaxies and dwarf satellites. While these problems may point to an incomplete understanding of the underlying theory of DM (e.g., [130]), they also highlight our inadequate understanding of galaxy formation, particularly the effects of cosmic rays and magnetic fields.

It is believed that the problem can be resolved by inclusion of *feedback* processes by stellar winds, supernovae, and active galactic nuclei, which either drive outflows of gas from the galaxy and/or interrupt the accretion of new gas via a self-regulated heating mechanism. These processes lead to the suppression of star formation activity in both small mass halos ($M \leq 10^{11} M_{\odot}$) and large mass halos ($M \geq 10^{13} M_{\odot}$). The physical processes underlying these ideas include: energy and/or momentum input by cosmic rays; magnetic fields; radiation fields; and mechanical energy in the form of shock waves and turbulence. But details remain largely unclear. Numerical simulations of the present-day ISM (e.g., [24, 131–133]) indicate that the details of the density structures as well as the positioning of the supernovae are crucial to understand the dynamical cycle of gas in the ISM and the launching of outflows. In recent years, cosmic ray feedback has been rediscovered and has attracted a growing amount of work [20–24, 134, 135].

The formation of galaxies follows two main phases: an early violent phase at $z \ge 1$ with large mass accretion rates and high gas-mass fractions, and a late epoch ($z \le 1$), which is characterised by lower gas accretion rates and some (rarer) galaxy merger events. Understanding the non-thermal components of the present-day Milky Way will not directly teach us about feedback processes that have been active at the high-noon of galaxy formation at $z \sim 2$. However, the combination of nonthermal tracers from the most star-forming regions in the Milky Way with resolved observations of local starburst galaxies (such as Arp 220 and NGC 253) has the power to improve our understanding of the physical feedback processes at work during the galaxy formation epoch. Thus, understanding non-thermal components of the ISM via Bayesian inference methods such as *IMAGINE* promises to be an essential step towards better motivated feedback processes.

Modern models of galaxy formation are now starting to include MHD. The turbulent fluctuation dynamo can quickly (on a time-scale of order 10 Myr) amplify a small-scale magnetic field, even in a very young galaxy. In later stages when galaxies grow large disks, the field is further amplified by a large-scale dynamo driven by differential rotation and turbulence, and this process preferentially grows a toroidal disk field [23, 136, 137]. Numerical simulations show that magnetic fields can grow in about a Gyr to a saturation value where magnetic pressure is comparable to thermal pressure if turbulence is sufficiently strong [138, 139]. While this magnetic field can partially suppress and delay the onset of star formation [140], overall, magnetic fields have only a weak effect on the global evolution of the galaxies [136]. However, their presence is critical to correctly model cosmic ray feedback. This is because a strong starburst injects cosmic rays that accumulate to the point where their buoyancy force overcomes the magnetic tension of the dominant toroidal magnetic field, causing it to bend and open up [141]. Cosmic rays stream and diffuse ahead of the gas into the halo and accelerate the gas, thereby driving a strong galactic outflow [23, 142].

These simulations predict a local magnetic field strength of a few μ G in the galactic disc, increasing to 10-100 μ G close to the galactic centre, in magnetically dominated galactic winds [23, 142], or in the X-shaped magnetic fields out of the disc [143]. To test those simulations against observables, we need to capture the characteristics of these meso-scale outflows in a GMF model, or even to develop a non-parametric reconstruction of the GMF that can avoid our morphological preconceptions for what they should look like. Here is where the advanced methodology of *IMAGINE* can have an impact (see section 4.3) and conversely, where *IMAGINE* can use this information about galaxy evolution for improvements in the modelling of the GMF (see also section 4.6.1).

3.3 Ultra-high energy cosmic rays

Cosmic rays with energies exceeding $E \sim 10^{18}$ eV = 1 EeV are called ultra-high energy cosmic rays and are assumed to be mostly of extragalactic origin [144, 145]. Though more than 20 000 events have been observed in the highest energy decade [146–148], the identification of their sources still requires the solution of three problems: (a) understanding the structure and strength of cosmic magnetic fields (both Galactic and extragalactic), which determine the path of the particles on their way from their sources to us; (b) clearly identifying the mass and charge of *individual* UHECR particles, and thus the magnitude of their magnetic deflections; and (c) identifying statistically significant anisotropy in UHECR arrival directions, which is required to compare potential source distributions in the sky with measurements. In all three areas, significant experimental progress has been reported recently, which is laid out as follows.

While past attempts to associate UHECRs with known extragalactic structures [149, 150] could not be confirmed with sufficient significance, the analysis of a much larger dataset obtained by the southern Pierre Auger Observatory found a large-scale dipole anisotropy with an amplitude of 6.5% for energies above E = 8 EeV and a significance of 5.2σ ([151] and figure 8), similar to what was



Figure 8. Sky map in galactic coordinates showing the cosmic ray flux as measured by the Pierre Auger Observatory for E > 8 EeV smoothed with a 45° top-hat function [156]. The Galactic centre is at the origin. The cross indicates the measured dipole direction; the contours denote the 68% and 95% confidence level regions. The dipole in the 2MRS galaxy distribution is indicated. Arrows show the deflections expected for the JF12 GMF model on particles with E/Z = 2 or 5 EeV.⁷.

found in the combined analysis with the northern Telescope Array (TA) experiment [152]. Moreover, a recent analysis of the cumulative dataset from the Pierre Auger Observatory provides evidence for anisotropy in the arrival directions of UHECRs on an intermediate angular scale, which is indicative of excess arrivals from strong, nearby sources [153], in line with previous results of the Pierre Auger Observatory [154] and TA [155].

The problem of identifying the charge of UHECR nuclei arises from the fact that it has to be inferred from the observed properties of air showers, cascades of secondary particles developing in the Earth's atmosphere initiated by the UHECR. While the energy is quite well constrained by shower calorimetry, the mass and charge of the primary particle reveals itself mostly by the atmospheric column depth of the maximum energy emission of the shower, X_{max} , which is subject to large fluctuations between individual showers. This will be brought under control by collecting additional information on individual showers, and efforts are under way to achieve this, such as the upgrade of the Pierre Auger Observatory [157], including a new method to measure air showers by radio detection [158, 159]. Currently, the primary mass is only measured for a fraction of UHECRs. There is evidence that the *average* composition of UHECR nuclei is rather light at ~ 1 EeV ([160, 161], and references therein), becoming heavier towards the highest energies. Recent results from the Pierre Auger Observatory are illustrated in figure 9, depicting the relative abundance of four elemental groups in cosmic rays.

These results indicate that *most* UHECRs have rigidities in the range $E/eZ \sim 3-10$ EV, which means that they would be deflected in the Galactic magnetic field by $\gtrsim 10^{\circ}$, considering both the large-scale and the random component [162–164]. This is in addition to the deflection in extragalactic magnetic fields, which is considerably more difficult to quantify but unlike the GMF, only *diminishes* the directional information by blurring the UHECR sources over more or less large cones, an effect

⁷Figure 3 in *Observation of a large-scale anisotropy in the arrival directions of cosmic rays above* 8×10^{18} eV, Pierre Auger Collaboration, Science, Vol. 357, Issue 6357, pp. 1266-1270, © (2017), reprinted with permission from AAAS.



Figure 9. Relative abundance of four mass groups as function of energy in cosmic rays as measured by the Pierre Auger Observatory [165]. The upper four panels show the best-fit mass fractions and the goodness of fit is displayed in the lowest panel. Thick error bars denote the statistical uncertainties, thin error bars the systematic ones.⁸

which can be controlled by statistics. The systematic shift of the centre of the cone away from the source can then be used to constrain *both* GMF properties and UHECR source scenarios in the Bayesian analysis of *IMAGINE*.

An improved understanding of the GMF structure would be the first step toward a more rigorous UHECR astronomy. Reducing the uncertainties between measured and extragalactic arrival directions of UHECR events would allow for the comparison of different scenarios for the largescale extragalactic structure and distribution of UHECR sources and magnetic fields. This would not only make crucial progress in identifying UHECR sources possible, but also allow us to constrain extragalactic magnetic fields (EGMFs) by deducing the residual extragalactic contribution to magnetic deflection once the Galactic contribution has been subtracted. Comparing this with constrained EGMF simulations (e.g., [166] and figure 10) will contribute to the understanding of the astrophysical processes relevant for MHD at large cosmological scales, such as large-scale dynamo processes and the development of MHD turbulence at galaxy cluster scales and beyond. At present, many of such EGMF simulations exist (e.g., [166–171]), varying largely in their predictions for magnetic field strengths on various scales and effects on UHECR propagation [172].

⁸Figure 6 in J. Bellido et al., PoS (ICRC2017) 506, reproduced with permission © by the Pierre Auger Collaboration.

3.4 Extragalactic backgrounds

3.4.1 Cosmic microwave background

Studies of the cosmic microwave background (CMB) and its anisotropies have ushered in a new, high-precision era for modern cosmology. Whether alone or combined with other cosmological probes, measurements of the CMB total intensity anisotropies have established the current cosmological model, setting the stage for further, more profound investigations with direct implications not only for cosmology but also for fundamental physics. Today, the search for primordial gravitational waves from the inflationary phase of the expanding Universe is the paramount goal of CMB experiments. The signal imprinted on the polarised CMB, the so-called primordial *B*-modes⁹, are directly related to physics beyond the Standard Model of particle physics and on energy scales twelve orders of magnitude higher than those accessible to the Large Hadron Collider.

The power spectra analysis of the *Planck* 353 GHz polarisation maps decomposes the dust polarisation into *E* and *B* modes [174]. It led to two unexpected results: a positive *TE* correlation and a ratio of about 2 between the *E* and *B* dust powers. More recently, the *TE* correlation and *E/B* power asymmetry were shown to extend to low multi-poles that were not analysed in the first *Planck* polarisation papers [175]. This latter study also reports evidence for a positive *TB* dust signal. The *E/B* asymmetry and the *TE* correlation have been related empirically to the alignment of the magnetic field with the filamentary structure of the diffuse ISM [176]. Theoretically, these results have been interpreted as signatures of turbulence in the magnetised ISM [173, 177, 178]. The *TB* signal indicates that dust polarisation maps do not satisfy parity invariance, a surprising result that has not yet been explained.

After the *Planck* mission, a new generation of experiments, on the ground and balloon-borne, is measuring the polarisation of the CMB with an increased precision. The primordial *B*-mode signal may well be within reach of these experiments' sensitivities, but it is much weaker than the polarised foreground emission from the magnetised ISM of our galaxy. What we learn in modelling the GMF and its interactions with the various components of the ISM will be a useful input to the CMB component separation challenge. A better understanding of the polarised emission from dust and the relationship between the field and the dust emission structures will lead to more realistic foreground simulations for testing component separation algorithms. It is also vital in order to compute realistic errors and eventually to claim a detection of the cosmological signal with confidence [179]. At low frequencies, a better characterisation for component separation purposes. Furthermore, detailed knowledge of these Galactic emission mechanisms at large scales are also a key for detecting other sources of *B*-modes, such as those coming from primordial magnetic fields [180] (see also section 3.4.3).

The CMB measurements and the detection of primordial gravitational waves are therefore intimately linked to the inference of the GMF: the measurements in the microwave bands are crucial inputs to the *IMAGINE* framework, and the resulting knowledge of the thermal and non-thermal components of the magnetised ISM is a crucial input to the challenge of cosmological component separation.

3.4.2 Epoch of reionisation

One of the greatest outstanding challenges of observational astronomy at the moment is the detection of neutral hydrogen from the era when the first galaxies started to form and reionise the Universe, the so-called epoch of reionisation (EoR). The 21-cm neutral hydrogen line will be redshifted to low

⁹Cosmologists decompose the polarised emission into E (gradient-like) and B (curl-like) modes (e.g., [173]). These correspond to signals of distinct physical origin within the polarisation of the CMB.



Figure 10. Map of projected mean magnetic field along the line-of-sight obtained from an MHD simulation of the local Universe as used by Hackstein et al. [166]. The simulation started from constrained initial conditions provided by a method summarised in [183]. The catalogue of constraints is fully described in [184]. The magnetic field is shown in μ G. Colours are in logarithmic scale. The additional contours show the temperature in logarithmic scale. The panel has a side-length of 200 Mpc/h, the projection axes are the *X* and *Y* in the supergalactic coordinates. The position of the Milky Way is at the centre of the box, indicated by a white circle. The additional circles show the location of the simulated counterparts of real objects in the local Universe.

radio frequencies, where it is expected to be detectable statistically with the current generation of low-frequency radio telescopes [181]. However, as in the case of the CMB, the signal will be much weaker than several foreground components, so extreme care needs to be taken to remove these.

One of the most difficult foregrounds to remove may be spurious small-scale spectral structure caused by polarisation leakage (e.g., [182]). If ideal radio telescopes existed, EoR measurements would not be connected in any way with the Galactic magnetic field. However, in reality, leakage of diffuse polarised synchrotron emission from the Milky Way into total intensity will result in a frequency-dependent signal in total intensity that mimics the EoR signal itself. If the polarised fore-ground is known, this leakage in principle can be calculated as a power spectrum and its contribution subtracted from the observed signal [181].

3.4.3 Large-scale extragalactic and primordial magnetic fields

In recent years, a large effort has been devoted to study cosmic magnetism (e.g., [185]), but numerous questions about the origin and evolution of magnetic fields in the Universe are still unanswered. Important information could be derived from the observation of magnetic fields in the large-scale structure of the Universe, beyond galaxy clusters. In these environments, the properties of the mag-



Figure 11. All-sky map of the extragalactic primordial magnetic field as it should have been generated by the Harrison mechanism in the early Universe and be still present today. Shown is the field strength in colour and the field direction as a texture, where each pixel represents the average over the line of sight to a distance of 60 Mpc/h from the Earth. The 3D field was reconstructed from the observed galaxy distribution in the local Universe [187]. Galaxy clusters (like Virgo on the top right) with compressed primordial fields appear in red, galaxy voids with mostly pristine fields in blue.

netic fields reflect those of the seed field, since they have been less affected by processes of structure formation (see figure 11). But also magnetic fields in filamentary structures of the cosmic web are still expected to be very weak ($B \sim 1 \text{ nG}$, see e.g., [186]). The detection of magnetic fields outside galaxy clusters is therefore challenging, but would prove invaluable in understanding the origin of primordial fields.

As pointed out in section 3.4.1, an imprint of these primordial magnetic fields must be present in the CMB. The current experimental upper limit on primordial magnetic fields from CMB observations is B < 1 nG (for a nearly scale-invariant stochastic distribution), but most theoretical scenarios to produce primordial fields expect much smaller field strengths ([180], and references therein). A mechanism to measure such weak fields has been suggested on the basis of pair cascades that are expected to develop in the traversal of TeV photons through cosmic radiation backgrounds. These would cause an excess of GeV photons in the spectrum of TeV blazars. As sufficiently strong EGMFs can dilute the effects of the cascade in the line-of-sight, non-observation of this excess in could be used to place lower limits on the EGMF strength (e.g., [188], and references therein). A rigorous analysis of Fermi LAT data for known TeV blazars has led to a conservative limit of $B \gtrsim 10^{-10}$ nG [189]; the authors also discuss how additional processes like beam-plasma instabilities [190] could suppress the cascade development and render these limits inapplicable. A direct discovery of pair cascades could be possible by observing their spatial and time-like widening of the (potentially transient) blazar emission, known as *pair-halos* and *pair-echoes*, respectively. If the EGMF strength turns out to be $\leq 10^{-6}$ nG, future Cherenkov telescopes like CTA, AGIS, or HAWC would be able to detect such pair-halos or echoes from TeV blazars and thus to infer further properties of the large-scale EGMFs (e.g., [191]). EGMFs with a strength significantly above 10^{-6} nG cannot be constrained by this method.

For stronger EGMFs, such as are expected in the denser regions of the cosmic web in particular, Faraday RMs of extragalactic sources provide a powerful tool. Recently, statistical algorithms based on Bayesian inference have been developed to separate the Galactic and extragalactic contribution [41] and to further disentangle the latter into the terms associated with galaxy clusters, filaments, voids, and sheets (e.g., [192, 193]). Yet again, in order to detect and constrain the properties of magnetic fields in the cosmic web, the detailed knowledge of the Galactic contribution gained by the *IMAGINE* project will be essential.

4 Approaches and methods

We have summarised the scientific background and goals of the *IMAGINE* project. But to connect the many disparate strands of theoretical and observational knowledge needed requires a statistically powerful and computationally flexible framework. Here, we describe the approach we take to the *IMAGINE* project. More details as well as a first demonstration are provided in [1].

4.1 Introduction to Bayesian methods

IMAGINE is designed to provide a flexible and modular analytic platform based on Bayes theorem that allows the explicit mathematical characterisation of: the constraining data and their uncertainties; the models and their parameters; the posterior likelihood of a given model; any prior information about the model not included in that likelihood; and the quantitative evidence for a given model compared to another.

4.1.1 Bayesian inference

The most important thing to understand about Bayesian methods is that they do not introduce a different way of doing statistics, but rather a method of inference in a multi-valued logic appropriate for scientific problems. This goes back to a proof delivered by Cox [194], that the desiderata of a logic of plausibilities are fulfilled by the calculus of probability theory, so one can use the terms 'plausibility' and 'probability' in the same sense. Thus Bayes' theorem, commonly written as

$$P(\mathcal{M}|\mathcal{D}, I) = \frac{P(\mathcal{D}|\mathcal{M}, I)}{P(\mathcal{D}|I)} \cdot P(\mathcal{M}|I), \qquad (4.1)$$

becomes the rule of inference on the *plausibility* $P \in [0, 1]$, assigned to physical entity of interest \mathcal{M} , given a (new) set of empirical data \mathcal{D} and some background information I. The meaning of all these quantities in various contexts will be explained in the remainder of this section.

4.1.2 Parametric vs. non-parametric methods

In *parametric Bayesian methods*, \mathcal{M} is understood as a physical or phenomenological model. Such model prescriptions can be based on purely heuristic assumptions or be the result of a fundamental theory, as described in section 4.2.2. Their value lies in physical abstraction, which may be useful to transfer knowledge between related problems, but they are usually oversimplified when it comes to the exact description of a complex structure like the Galactic magnetic field.

In contrast to this, *non-parametric Bayesian methods* aim to reconstruct reality to the highest possible accuracy. Here, M takes the role of a physical field, e.g., a direct representation of the

Galactic magnetic field. The main problem here is to recover this field from the data, which is subject to limitations of measurement and noise. A field has virtually an infinite number of degrees of freedom, whereas the data provide only a finite number of constraints. Thus the reconstruction problem is heavily under-constrained and ill-defined. This can only be cured by the inclusion of prior information into the inference, which relates the many degrees of freedom. To this end, *information field theory* (IFT, [195, 196]), the information theory for fields, will be used. Information field theory is a probabilistic formulation of the inverse problem to estimate an unknown field that exploits the rich variety of mathematical methods developed for quantum field theory.

Parametric models describe a subset of the possible field configurations, and therefore parametric models can implicitly be regarded as having strong priors. Nevertheless, their lower dimensionalities can have huge computational and conceptual advantages. For these reasons, the IMAGINE Consortium will investigate both parametric and non-parametric GMF models. In fact, the existing *IMAGINE* pipeline recently presented in [1] combines a parametric representation of the mean GMF with additional non-parametric realisations of magnetic fluctuations in the inference. The mean field parameters as well as the parameters controlling the magnetic fluctuations can be inferred simultaneously.

4.1.3 Likelihood

The likelihood, $P(\mathcal{D}|\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{I})$, is the most crucial element in Bayesian inference. It is the probability of obtaining the (observed) data \mathcal{D} out of all possible data configurations given a specific model realisation \mathcal{M} and background information \mathcal{I} . Knowing the uncertainty of the available data is essential for calculating a likelihood, which acts as a distance measure between measurement and model prediction. The easiest way is to consider the errors communicated by the experiment as part of the data, which strictly speaking they are not as they are already a result of an inference performed by the experimentalists. Non-parametric Bayesian approaches provide sophisticated methods to estimate uncertainties directly from the measurements (see section 4.5.2).

4.1.4 Prior, posterior and knowledge update

The leftmost and rightmost terms in eq. (4.1), $P(\mathcal{M}|\mathcal{D}, I)$ and $P(\mathcal{M}|I)$, are called the *posterior* and the *prior*, respectively. Both are closely related, as they represent plausibility values assigned to the same entity, \mathcal{M} . The prior is just the assignment before the data is obtained or taken into account, and the posterior is the assignment afterwards. The change from prior to posterior reflects the information the data provided through its likelihood, which is simply multiplied by the prior in Bayes' theorem.

In practice, there exist several approaches to construct prior distributions. For example, priors may be constructed empirically via a Bayesian knowledge update from previously obtained experimental results. Another possibility is to construct the least-informative priors via the maximum entropy methodology.

Particularly in non-parametric approaches, informative priors are necessary. The simplest nonparametric priors discourage strong gradients or curvature in the solutions to ensure continuity of the physical fields. More sophisticated priors incorporate the notion of field correlation functions, which either can be calculated from theory (as in CMB science) or have to be determined simultaneously from the data. Thus, in the ideal case, the features introduced to construct sensible non-parametric priors reveal highly interesting physical quantities. The natural by-products of non-parametric inference are therefore the interpretable scientific results that provide insight and understanding into, e.g., Galactic magnetogenesis.

4.1.5 Evidence and background information

The last term in Bayes' theorem, given in eq. (4.1), is the denominator on the right side, $P(\mathcal{D}|I)$, which is called the *evidence*. Its most important role is to renormalise the joint probability of data and model

$$P(\mathcal{D}, \mathcal{M}|\mathcal{I}) = P(\mathcal{D}|\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{I}) \cdot P(\mathcal{M}|\mathcal{I})$$

that arose from multiplying the prior with the likelihood, such that

$$\int P(\mathcal{M}|\mathcal{D}, I) \cdot \mathrm{d}\mathcal{M} = 1.$$

In practice, the evidence allows us to penalise model complexity and choose the simplest model parametrisation able to explain the data. It therefore naturally implements the common understanding of Occam's razor in Bayesian model comparisons [197].

Formally, the evidence, $P(\mathcal{D}|I)$, is the plausibility of the data \mathcal{D} in the light of the background information I, marginalised over all model parameters. It might be seen as a measure of the quality of the data, i.e., their ability to constrain the fundamental approach (or meta-model) contained in I. Another way to see it is as the likelihood of I in the light of the data \mathcal{D} . In this sense, it represents information about the plausibility of I and permits comparisons between different formulations of this background information.

4.1.6 Numerical approaches to Bayesian inference

A numerical approach to full Bayesian inference always aims at mapping the entire posterior distribution. This often requires performing numerical searches and integration in very high dimensional parameter spaces, ranging from a few to several thousand dimensions, depending on the parametrisation of models.

In such situations, the Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) technique is known to be the most efficient numerical technique for approximating high dimensional posterior distributions (see e.g., [198]). The MCMC approach is a class of algorithms generating representative samples of probability distributions (see e.g., [199]). This is achieved by constructing a so-called Markov chain by sequentially transitioning from one point in parameter space to another. If transitions depend only on the current point and if they obey the requirement of detailed balance, then the equilibrium state of such a chain consists of ergodic samples of the desired target probability distribution. More explicitly, the MCMC algorithm performs a sequential local exploration of parameter space and provides a numerical approximation to the desired target posterior distribution in terms of a multi-dimensional point cloud given as:

$$P(\mathcal{M}|\mathcal{D}, I) \approx \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} \delta^{D} \left(\mathcal{M} - \mathcal{M}_{i}\right), \qquad (4.2)$$

where $\delta^D(x)$ indicates the Dirac-delta distribution, M_i are sequential model realisations generated by the MCMC process and N is the total number of generated posterior realisations. It can be shown that for $N \to \infty$, the right hand side of eq. (4.2) converges to the desired target posterior distribution (see e.g., [198, 199]). Given such a set of posterior samples in post-processing, one may then perform any desired Bayesian activity such as determining credibility intervals, marginalising over a nuisance parameter or determining statistical summaries such as mean, mode or variance. In particular, one can now easily approximate any posterior-weighted integral over any desired function, $f(\mathcal{M})$, of the model and its parameters by an unbiased estimator given as

$$E(f(\mathcal{M})) \approx \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} f(\mathcal{M}_i).$$

A particularly important aspect of the MCMC approach is the fact that the errors of any derived estimators are independent of dimension and scale simply as $1/\sqrt{N}$. These features render the MCMC approach the perfect method to perform Bayesian parameter inference.

4.2 Parametric models of the GMF

4.2.1 Current heuristic models of the GMF

There are many parametric models for the large-scale GMF in the literature (e.g., [62, 83, 84, 200–202]) motivated by observations of the Milky Way and of external galaxies. Most are a combination of a toroidal field (i.e., no vertical component) and a poloidal field (i.e., no azimuthal component) to reproduce the observed features described in section 2.3. Most models also parametrise the amplitude as a form of exponential disk, in some cases with spiral arm structures [62, 84, 200, 201] or annular regions [83] where both the field strength and direction can vary independently. Further divisions into thin and thick disks, halo, inner and outer Galaxy, a molecular ring, etc. attempt to model different regions of the ISM.

The small-scale turbulent component of the field is usually also parametrised statistically, e.g., as a single-scale or 3D Gaussian random field with a parametrised power spectrum. The amplitude of this component usually also follows some sort of exponential disk profile, possibly with spiral arms etc., as in the case of the regular field, but not necessarily the identical morphology. This can then roughly double the number of parameters required (e.g., [84]).

The complexity of the parametrisations of such models can clearly vary depending on how many assumptions are made, with several dozen parameters the most that are usually feasible to explore (e.g., [84, 203]). As always, the risk of using large numbers of parameters is overfitting and drawing conclusions about the large-scale structure of the field based on a fit that may be perturbed by a small-scale local feature. In principle, the statistics of how the expected small-scale fluctuations affect the fits can be taken into account in the Bayesian framework. In practice, this can be difficult as discussed in [204].

Many of the methods in the *IMAGINE* framework have been applied in previous analyses of the GMF. Ruiz-Granados et al. [205] explored several complementary parametrised models with different morphologies and a Bayesian likelihood exploration. Jansson & Farrar [84] chose a single parametrised model but one with many physically motivated components and a large number of degrees of freedom. Both of these analyses used the high-resolution data to estimate the variations due to the turbulent field component and to include it in the likelihood. Jaffe et al. [62] instead explicitly modelled the random field components with an isotropic Gaussian random field and a stochastic anisotropic component. In [204] those two approaches of handling the random component are compared. Unger and Farrar [203] explore an ensemble of physically-motivated updates to the Jansson & Farrar [84] model (based in part on Ferrière and Terral [206]). They conclude that the data does currently not discriminate among these model variations, which therefore indicates the degree of uncertainty in our knowledge of the GMF.

We will make use of all of the lessons learned in these analyses by including the "Galactic variance" as an observable; comparing with high-resolution simulations of random fields, both Gaussian and non-Gaussian; comparing the ability of different parametrised models to constrain the large-scale



Figure 12. A GMF model based on the expansion, in free-decay magnetic modes, of axially symmetric solutions of kinematic mean-field dynamo equations for the Galactic disc and halo. For illustration, we have selected a solution that has a symmetric (quadrupolar) halo field combined with a quadrupolar disc field that has two reversals at arbitrarily chosen Galacto-centric distances 7 and 12 kpc. The domain shown is 17 kpc in size. Magnetic field lines (shown in grey) are seeded uniformly along a major diagonal through the box. Arrows show the magnetic field at positions randomly sampled within a 2.5 kpc-thick slice around the Galactic mid-plane (indicated by the semi-transparent surface); their length is proportional to the magnitude of the magnetic field.

features of the GMF; and using the Bayesian information framework to robustly characterise the knowledge gained from the analysis given the assumed parametric forms and priors.

4.2.2 Physical parametric models

However, these models are all heuristic and their topology is based on observed shapes instead of physics. Ferrière and Terral [206] were the first to develop analytical models for both disk and halo components of GMFs and in [202] these were applied to the Milky Way. Although these models still include only regular field components and are clearly oversimplified, they do present a significant step forward, as the field topology is based on physics, in contrast to the published heuristic models for which field topology consists of geometrical components based on observations.

The next advance is building parametric GMF models based on dynamo physics. This theory is aimed mainly at the explanation of the origin of GMFs and their typical properties. To obtain a parametrised model, a kinematic (linear) solution of eq. (2.2) is derived for \vec{V} , α and η_t , independent of \vec{B} . The linear nature of the solution is not restrictive in the present context since its aim is just to provide a convenient functional basis for any magnetic configuration. On the other hand, Chamandy et al. [94] show that a wide class of non-linear solutions is well approximated by the marginally stable eigenfunction (i.e., that is obtained for $\partial \vec{B}/\partial t = 0$).

In a thin disc with radius r and height h, a series of successive approximations in aspect ratio $\epsilon = h/r$ can be used to represent eq. (2.2) as: a system of local partial differential equations in z at a fixed Galacto-centric radius r, whose coefficients are functions of r; and a scalar equation for the magnetic field strength at a given r. Solutions to each approximation are obtained in an explicit form as an infinite series of orthogonal functions. The series can be truncated in order to achieve the desired level of detail in the result. In particular, such solutions can include: deviations from axial symmetry due to spiral arms and other factors; radial and vertical large-scale velocity components; inhomogeneity and anisotropy of the turbulent transport coefficients; magnetic field reversals; etc. For the quasi-spherical Galactic halo, a similar solution to eq. (2.2) is obtained in spherical coordinates in the form of expansion over the free-decay modes obtained for $\vec{v} = 0$ and $\alpha = 0$. Analytical expressions are available for these modes, expressed in spherical harmonics, so that the solution is again represented by an explicit form with a configurable level of detail. An example of a global (large-scale) magnetic configuration in the Galactic disc and halo produced with this model is shown in figure 12.

In order to provide specific models of the GMF, this solution should be extended to include a variety of complex physical effects, such as the multi-phase structure of the ISM, spiral arms, the effects of cosmic rays on the gas dynamics, etc. Some of these effects have already been included, e.g., the effects of galactic outflows [207], and there is some progress towards a better understanding of the role of the multi-phase ISM structure in galactic dynamos [104], but much more needs to be done.

Another difficulty, of a more fundamental nature, is that any theory of the random magnetic fields can only be statistical in nature, predicting their ensemble-averaged properties, whereas the GMF is just one realisation of the ensemble. However, the existing models of the GMF, especially those based on the mean-field dynamo theory, can provide a physically motivated field prior for a non-parametric Bayesian analysis of observations.

4.2.3 Challenges for parametric modelling

We have discussed the variety of models for the large-scale GMF that have been published, each having been optimised to match a subset of the available data (section 4.2.1). Though there are other suitable observables, the most commonly used tracers of the large-scale fields are: the Faraday RMs of Galactic pulsars and extragalactic radio sources; diffuse synchrotron emission in total and polarised intensity from radio to microwave frequencies; and diffuse dust polarisation in the microwave and sub-millimetre bands. As discussed in detail in [204], the problem of determining the magnetic structure of the Milky Way in sufficient detail remains under-determined due to degeneracies in the parameter space. The ill-constrained distribution of thermal electrons and the paucity of pulsars with reliable distance measures make it difficult to study the 3D structure of the fields with RMs. Confusion from additional emission components in the microwave bands such as free-free or anomalous microwave emission (aka "spinning dust") make it impossible to use the synchrotron total intensity at high frequencies. Faraday depolarisation effects cut off the visible polarisation in the lower frequency radio bands at a polarisation "horizon" of a few kpc [208]. Unknown variations in the synchrotron spectral energy distribution make it difficult to combine radio and microwave observations. Models of dust polarisation must account for its correlation with synchrotron polarisation [209, 210], as well as the correlation of the GMF with the filamentary structure of matter [76]. The structure of the local magnetic field on scales of a few 100 pc, e.g., the Local Bubble [211] is currently not taken into account in existing GMF models. However, the analysis of the Planck dust polarisation maps stress the need to consider this local contribution in order to model polarisation observations away from the Galactic plane [204, 212, 213].

Widely used models such as that of Jansson & Farrar [84] are often taken at face value without an understanding of how these systematic uncertainties affect the deceptively good fit obtained for each parameter. More data on the current observables, such as diffuse synchrotron polarisation at intermediate frequencies and better pulsar sampling, as well as new observables such as CR deflection information will help resolve some of these degeneracies, but it will remain necessary to build into any model fitting an understanding of the remaining uncertainties. The Bayesian framework of *IMAGINE* will allow us to do this explicitly and thereby to gain a better understanding of which parameters can be meaningfully constrained with the available data.

4.3 Non-parametric reconstruction of the GMF

Non-parametric 3D GMF models do not yet exist, and are a challenge due to the large number of degrees of freedom involved compared to the number of constraining data points. It is a second goal of the IMAGINE Consortium to enable non-parametric reconstructions of the GMF. All data and instrument descriptions collected by the IMAGINE Consortium will also be directly applicable to this more challenging goal.

A non-parametric reconstruction of the GMF requires that basically every point in 3D space carries its own magnetic field vector. As this is computationally infeasible to handle, only a pixelised version of the 3D GMF configuration can be stored. However, even such a finite resolution can easily mean that a billion field values not only have to be handled but also need to be determined from a much smaller set of observables. This is a so-called ill-posed inverse problem, which requires additional constraints or regularisation best provided by prior information such as: the GMF's solenoidality; the typical scaling relations of magnetic fluctuations in MHD turbulence; and the fact that the GMF is the result of an operating galactic dynamo that obeys the MHD equations and is driven by the kinetic energy of the ISM. The Bayesian framework of *IMAGINE* will allow us to test the ability of these priors to constrain non-parametric models to provide information that will be complementary to the parametric studies.

4.4 Observational input

In section 2.3.1, we described the physics of the observational tracers of Galactic magnetic fields. Here, we specifically list the available data sets for each tracer that we will use in *IMAGINE*.

4.4.1 Rotation measure and Faraday depth

The first and most straightforward data set to compare the GMF models against is that of RMs of extragalactic point sources. For this, we use a map of Galactic Faraday rotation reconstructed based on catalogues of extragalactic point source RMs [41]. Pulsar RMs have additional value due to their measurable distances within the Galaxy, however, there are relatively few (~ 200) pulsars with accurately known distances and RMs [214]. In principle, the Faraday depth of diffuse Galactic synchrotron emission (e.g., [215–217]) gives magnetic field information as well. However, due to local, small-scale structure and observational biases, this tracer may not be very useful in practice. RM and Faraday depth data depend on a reliable thermal electron density model (e.g., [218–220]) and a relativistic electron density model (e.g., [221–223]).

4.4.2 Synchrotron emission

With a relativistic electron density model in place, it is straightforward to calculate the synchrotron emission expected from the Milky Way given a certain GMF model. The modelled synchrotron maps at various frequencies can be directly compared to existing observational maps (see e.g., the

compilation by [224]). The complication of local structures needs to be dealt with, e.g., by including them in a model or masking them out. At very low frequencies, Faraday rotation by small-scale, local magnetic field structures will dominate, but at higher frequencies the global field should be constrainable. The all-sky polarisation surveys from the WMAP [225] and *Planck* satellites [226] are effectively free of Faraday rotation. Lower-frequency surveys that can be used that include Faraday rotation are, e.g., the all-sky survey at 1.4 GHz [227, 228], the Southern sky survey S-PASS at 2.3 GHz [229], or the full-sky C-BASS survey at 5 GHz [230].

4.4.3 Polarisation of starlight

The optical and near-infrared polarisation of stars is a potentially powerful constraint for the Galactic magnetic field, as shown in pilot studies by [61] and [231]. The catalogue of Heiles [57] and the Galactic Plane Infrared Polarisation Survey (GPIPS, [59]) combined with stellar distances from Gaia can be used to start with. A huge increase in stellar polarisation data is expected from ongoing optical stellar polarisation surveys: IPS [232], SOUTH-POL [233] and Pasiphae, which will be combined with stellar distances and extinction measurements from Gaia [234]. The modelling of stellar polarisation will go together with that of the dust distribution and extinction properties in 3D. Such models based on extinction measurements [235, 236], and on spectroscopy of diffuse interstellar bands [237], are already available.

4.4.4 Polarised dust emission

The same elongated dust particles that selectively absorb optical and near-infrared starlight, re-emit the absorbed polarised light in the far-infrared and sub-millimetre regimes. Therefore, the expected polarised emission from the chosen 3D dust model can be calculated and compared to observed all-sky maps of dust emission at various wavelengths from *Planck* [54]. These maps provide sensitive, full-sky observations of the total and polarised emission up to 353 GHz. Again, fully exploiting these data requires an accurate 3D model of the dust grain distribution. The observed asymmetry between *E* and *B* mode polarisation and their correlation with the total dust intensity [174, 175] provide specific constraints and challenges to the GMF modelling.

4.4.5 Ultra-high energy cosmic ray deflections

UHECRs can act as test particles to probe the 3D GMF structure in a unique way: unlike many other tracers, they probe the orientation of the transverse field component, and their total deflection is not simply a line-of-sight integral. This uniqueness becomes clear when looking at the inconsistency in the predictions for systematic UHECR deflections by different parametrisations for the GMF, which are both optimised at standard GMF tracers (figure 13, see also [238]). Including UHECRs in the GMF likelihood would require connecting various UHECR anisotropy predictions outside the Galaxy with the observed arrival direction distribution at Earth, and promising techniques to do this efficiently have been developed [239]. Considering information on the particle rigidity for each air shower would increase the discriminatory power of the likelihood, and experimental developments give hope to have detailed information on X_{max} soon available for a large number of air showers [240].

UHECR deflections in magnetic fields inside and outside of the Galaxy can be calculated by numerical codes like *CRPropa 3* [241], which can take any given GMF and EGMF structure as a 3D grid. To probe the GMF structure, UHECRs with moderate deflection angles ~10° will be most useful, provided that the original anisotropy is significant on intermediate scales. First hints in this direction have been delivered from anisotropy analysis at the highest measured energies [153, 155], which suggests that indeed UHECRs with E/eZ > 10 EV exist. Together with theoretical UHECR priors and constraints from multi-messenger signals (see section 4.6.2), it is therefore the variety of



Figure 13. Comparison of deflection angles of UHECRs with rigidity E/eZ = 10 EV predicted by two published models of the GMF: Pshirkov et al. [200] and Jansson & Farrar (JF12) [84].¹⁰

the information contained in the UHECR spectrum that can help to break degeneracies in GMF model optimisations.

4.5 Galactic priors

As discussed in section 4.1.4, a prior reflects our knowledge before the observation of the data and is particularly important for non-parametric GMF modelling (see section 4.3). Here we describe how we will formulate such priors for our galaxy.

4.5.1 Parameter priors

Parametrised models for the magnetic field structure already encode the constraints applied to describe the problem, e.g., by assuming a spiral disk morphology, or requiring $\nabla \cdot \vec{B} = 0$.

In heuristic GMF models, priors on the values of individual parameters can be either noninformative or constrained; the latter can make the analysis computationally feasible or reduce degeneracies in parameter space. They may also be used to include empirical constraints obtained from earlier optimisations, potentially also with different parametrisations. Because the results depend on the choices made at the start regarding both analytic model formulations and parameter priors, it will be important to test a number of different possibilities and to explore their mutual consistency.

A somewhat different situation occurs in dynamo models of the GMF, which are primarily based on an underlying physical process rather than a set of morphological assumptions. As described in section 4.2.2, these are based on the expansion of the large-scale magnetic field over a basis of orthogonal eigenfunctions of the mean-field dynamo equation. Since the functional basis is complete, any magnetic field, whether or not produced by the dynamo, can be represented as a superposition of the eigenfunctions. Therefore, an alternative use of these functions is to represent any magnetic field will be physically realisable, as it is by construction a solution of the induction equation. This then permits us to construct a prior for it. Different modes have different growth or decay rates. It is much more likely to observe a strong excitation of a growing mode than of a decaying mode for

¹⁰Reprinted from Progress in Particle and Nuclear Physics, Vol. 98, S. Mollerach and E. Roulet, *Progress in high-energy cosmic ray physics*, figure 15, p. 107, © (2018), with permission from Elsevier.

the simple reason that the latter are eliminated by the dynamics. Thus the eigenvalues of the dynamo modes can be turned into probabilistic statements of GMF field configurations.

4.5.2 Field priors

For a non-parametric GMF reconstruction, priors are essential to tame the (in principle) unbound number of degrees of freedom beyond the finite number of constraints provided by the data. Here, certain field smoothness assumptions can be applied, where the field roughness can be learned from the data themselves, as was shown to work well theoretically [242–246] and in practice [41, 193, 247– 253]. Furthermore, magnetic fields are solenoidal, $\vec{\nabla} \cdot \vec{B} = 0$, which removes a third of the field's degrees of freedom in Fourier space. Finally, the GMF is a result of an MHD dynamo, obeying the MHD equations and being driven by ISM gas flows. One can thus use the dynamo equation to quantify for each possible field configuration how transient it is. As it is much more likely to observe at a given instant a long lasting configuration than a very transient one, the former should be assigned a larger prior probability.

Considering short duration configurations is still necessary given the current theoretical understanding. The unknown correlation structure, or equivalently, the unknown field power spectrum, then represents a latent, or hidden, variable that should be inferred simultaneously but that also guides the field reconstruction. For example, the GMF power spectrum is shaped by the dynamo equation and the mean velocity field. The properties of these can also be regarded as latent variables that could and should be inferred as well. Power spectra estimation and the exploitation of such spectra to improve reconstructions are by now standard operations of IFT algorithms, as used for constructing all-sky maps from gamma-ray data (D³PO; [250, 254]), for radio interferometry (RESOLVE; [248, 252, 253]), and for non-parametric Galactic tomography [251].

4.6 Extragalactic priors

Information gathered from outside our galaxy can also be important to formulate Bayesian priors to be used in *IMAGINE*, as outlined in the following.

4.6.1 Galaxies

Idealised cosmological simulations of forming galaxies will never *exactly* reproduce the phases and amplitudes of the CR and magnetic field distributions in our galaxy. However, they will be invaluable tools that enable predicting the (higher-order) statistics of these distributions, which can then be used to provide useful Bayesian priors for inference estimates such as the *IMAGINE* framework presented here. An important aspect of a useful Galaxy model is the mass distribution, both near the Galactic centre and within the DM halo. In particular, such questions as the plausible or admissible form of the rotation curve at small Galacto-centric distances depend on the inner DM density profile and the presence of a cusp. The structure of the DM halo and its substructures (e.g., the abundance and properties of sub-halos) can affect the large-scale properties of the interstellar gas flows and distribution. Another aspect of galaxy evolution that affects the formulation of the priors is related to magnetic field estimates in MgII absorbers at high redshift [255]. In order to translate them into useful constraints on the Galactic magnetic field (in particular, in the Galactic halo), a clear understanding of galactic evolution is required.

Another rich source of information is observations of nearby galaxies. Detailed observations of synchrotron emission and Faraday rotation are available for dozens of spiral galaxies. The spatial distributions of these tracers along and across galactic discs and in their haloes ([256] and references therein) provide rich constraints on the likely and unlikely forms of the Galactic magnetic field.

4.6.2 UHECR source and arrival direction distribution

Although the origin of UHECRs is still an unsolved problem, the enormous energies of these particles constrain the options to a few physically reasonable scenarios. All of them make unique predictions for the relation of the spectrum, chemical composition, and arrival directions, which predictions can be used as priors for UHECR deflection studies. The key lies in the so-called Hillas plot, which summarises the possible sources of UHECRs in a diagram of size *R* vs. magnetic field strength *B* through the relation $BR \ge E_{\text{max}}/eZ$ [257].

The traditional way to interpret this plot is to see it as an empirical collection of distinct source classes. Listed from smallest to largest linear sizes, these are mainly: pulsar wind shocks [258, 259], tidal disruption events [260–262], gamma-ray bursts [263–266], radio galaxies and AGN [267–271], and large-scale accretion shocks [272–274]. All these models make predictions for the spectrum, composition and anisotropy of UHECRs depending on parameters constrained by other astronomical observations and can be compared in our analysis via their Bayesian evidence in view of all available constraints.

Another way is to see the Hillas plot as the result of a general, underlying non-thermal process responsible for the production of UHECRs and to relate the contribution of various source types to the properties of cosmological structure formation. This approach allows us to understand some general features of UHECRs, in particular their observed maximum energies as well as the structure of the Hillas plot [275], but also allows us to construct a parametrised prior for UHECR origin if combined with reconstructions of DM-driven large-scale structure formation.

Observational constraints on extragalactic UHECR priors may be constructed from multimessenger information like the arrival directions of cosmic neutrinos [276] or gamma-rays [277]. It should be noted, however, that the relation between UHECR emission and the production of secondaries is highly non-trivial and requires detailed modelling of source properties like acceleration sites, mechanisms and target densities, as well as orientation effects. Independent of such ambiguities regarding direct gamma-ray emission from the sources, future TeV gamma-ray observatories may be able to trace UHECR production in the Universe via the cosmogenic gamma-ray halos that arise from interactions of these particles with cosmic backgrounds [278, 279]

5 IMAGINE software design

We have discussed extensively the scientific background and goals of the *IMAGINE* project and the mathematical and scientific tools we will use. Here, we given an overview of the software components of the *IMAGINE* pipeline we have developed. For further details, tests, and its first application, see [1, 280].

5.1 Design overview

The structure of the *IMAGINE* pipeline is shown in figure 14. The observables (section 4.4) are compared to model predictions (section 4.2 and section 4.3) and the likelihood (section 4.1.3) assessed including prior information (section 4.5 and section 4.6) using Bayesian statistics (section 4.1.1).

IMAGINE is a pipeline framework rather than a software application, since one of its core concepts is extensive modularity. In the context of *IMAGINE*, the Galaxy is described by a set of physical fields, e.g., the Galactic magnetic field, the thermal electron density, or the dust density. Those fields each have independent degrees of freedom with which they are fully described. For a certain parametric GMF model, for example, a few dozen parameters might be sufficient. In contrast,



Figure 14. The structure of the IMAGINE data processing and interpretation.

a non-parametric GMF model has as many degrees of freedom as voxels, e.g., 2^{24} for a box with a resolution of $256 \times 256 \times 256$. From the pipeline's point-of-view, it is irrelevant which constituents make up this abstract Galaxy or how many dimensions make up the parameter space of the constituents.

The individual parts of the *IMAGINE* framework, shown in figure 14, are described in the following. The central object for the parameter space exploration is the pipeline object that coordinates the likelihood calculations and evaluations. Its most important counterpart is the sampler, which the pipeline provides with an abstract likelihood and a prior functional. Currently, *PyMultiNest* [281], based on the nested sampling algorithm of [282], is used as the default sampler. The sampler triggers the likelihood evaluation for each point in a normalised parameter space through the following steps.

- First, the parameter set given by the sampler is used to generate a certain Galaxy model realisation. In practice this means creating the dynamic constituents our abstract Galaxy model consisting of, e.g., a Galactic magnetic field, a thermal electron density field, a dust density field, etc.;
- The Galaxy-instance is then processed by an observable-generator that simulates physical observables like rotation measures or maps of the thermal dust emission;
- That model is then assessed by a likelihood functional that compares the simulated observables to measured data; The pipeline can store the resulting likelihood value in a repository to allow for caching and post-processing of the calculated data before it is forwarded to the sampler.

Although a Galaxy-instance is basically determined by the parameters of its constituents, the constituents can possess random components. For example, the Galactic magnetic field has a large stochastic component. Because of this, instead of just creating one Galaxy-instance, the Galaxy-generator actually creates a whole ensemble of instances that share the same parametrisation. After being processed by the observable-generator, the ensemble is then used by the likelihood functional to estimate the Galactic covariance.

The computational effort to process a whole ensemble of dozens or even hundreds of Galaxyinstances for each position in parameter space can be mitigated via parallelisation. For convenient



Figure 15. The building blocks of the IMAGINE pipeline framework.

data processing in general and efficient data parallelisation in particular, the *IMAGINE* framework is built on the software packages *NIFTy 3* [283] and *D2O* [284], respectively. An overview of the framework's building blocks is given in figure 15.

5.2 The hammurabi code

The hammurabi code¹¹ [285] is an astrophysical simulator based on 3D models of the components of the magnetised ISM such as magnetic fields, thermal electrons, relativistic electrons, and dust grains. It performs an efficient line-of-sight integration through the simulated Galaxy model using a $HEALPix^{12}$ -based nested grid to produce observables such as Faraday rotation measure and diffuse synchrotron and thermal dust emission in full Stokes *I*, *Q* and *U*, while taking into account beam and depth depolarisation as well as Faraday effects. This modular code allows new analytic models for each component to be added easily, or alternatively an external file can be given that specifies the model in a binary grid. The public version already includes relatively simple field models such as the axisymmetric spiral with reversed ring of Sun et al. [83] and more complicated models such as Jansson & Farrar [84], which includes spiral arm segments and an X-shaped halo field. For small-scale turbulence, the code includes a Gaussian random field simulator to add a simple random component to any analytic model. This code is the basis of one of the engines of the *IMAGINE* machinery, converting parametric models for the magnetised ISM into observables that can then be compared to data in the likelihood evaluation.

An updated version, hammurabi X (Wang et al., in preparation), is currently under development in order to achieve the higher computing performance required by *IMAGINE*. Previously in hammurabi, the generation of the anisotropic component of the random field as well as the rescaling of the field strength following various parametric forms lead to unphysical divergence. Now we propose two novel solutions for simulating random/turbulent magnetic field. On Galactic scales, a triple Fourier transform scheme is proposed to restore the divergence-free condition via a cleaning method. Alternatively, in the local Solar neighbourhood, a vector-field decomposition scheme is capable of simulating a more detailed turbulent field power-spectrum. In addition to these new field generators, the simulation accuracy has been improved with a calibrated trilinear interpolation algorithm and the implementation of Simpson's 1/3 rule in line-of-sight integration. The input and output control and *Python* wrapper are further developed to ensure an efficient interface with *IMAGINE*.

¹¹http://sourceforge.net/projects/hammurabicode/

¹²http://healpix.sourceforge.net

Furthermore, in the future, hammurabi X will be extended for application to IFT tomographic GMF reconstructions, i.e., non-parametric modelling as described in section 4.3. For this purpose, the derivative of the simulated observables with respect to the field values has to be computed, i.e., the linearised response of the simulated data to small model changes. For the reverse inference from the data to the field configuration, we also require the adjoint matrix to express how a mismatch between the real and simulated data sets tends to pull the model. Since parametric models can be regarded as being embedded within the space of all non-parametric models, an efficient gradient-based optimisation of parametric models will also become feasible using this extension; the linearised response operator then uses the differential relation between the 3D field configuration and the model parameters.

5.3 Sampler

An important part of the *IMAGINE* project is drawing robust and accurate conclusions from observations subject to a variety of systematic as well as stochastic uncertainties. Depending on the quality of the real data and the complexity of the respective data models, we expect to encounter counterintuitive interdependencies and degeneracies among inference quantities, nuisance parameters and noise properties. Quantifying these effects requires the joint and fully self-consistent treatment of all these quantities within a rigorous information theoretical inference approach.

Various MCMC techniques (discussed generically in section 4.1.6) are known to efficiently explore high-dimensional parameter spaces (see e.g., [198]). The numerical and statistical efficiency of this algorithm crucially depends on the design of proper transition kernels. Optimal transitions, obeying the detailed balance criterion, can be designed with the Metropolis-Hastings procedure [286, 287], the basis of almost any modern MCMC algorithm. Different MCMC approaches mostly only differ in the design of transition kernels that are optimal for different target posterior distributions. The sampler module of the *IMAGINE* pipeline can easily exploit any state-of-the-art MCMC technique by simply connecting it with the corresponding software library. In particular the *IMAGINE* pipeline can exploit available inference packages such as *PyMC* [288], *PyMC 3* [289] and *STAN* [290]. This immediately enables a user of the *IMAGINE* pipeline to access various sampling algorithms ranging from random walk Metropolis-Hastings and Gibbs sampling to Hamiltonian Monte Carlo sampling [286, 287, 291–293].

As discussed above, the literature provides a plenitude of rival models that need to be compared and judged with respect to the data. In Bayesian parlance, we will have the data decide among models. This task is different from parameter inference, since it requires a judgement of the validity of models independently of their respective model parameters. This task therefore amounts to performing Bayesian model comparison.

A technical challenge of Bayesian model comparison is the numerical determination of the evidence. This is an active field of research and has not yet been conclusively solved. Nevertheless, for moderate dimensionality the task of numerically estimating the evidence of the posterior distribution can be solved by performing nested sampling (see e.g., [294]). The *IMAGINE* pipeline can readily use several publicly available software packages implementing the nested sampling algorithm [281, 295, 296]. In particular the present implementation of the *IMAGINE* framework uses the *PyMultiNest* library for the evidence calculation [1]. From a users' perspective, Bayesian model comparison can now easily be performed by running the *IMAGINE* pipeline with several different models of the magnetic field and comparing estimated evidence values for respective models, as discussed in section 4.

5.4 NIFTy

Information field theory [195] is information theory for fields and therefore the ideal language to phrase and solve non-parametric field inference problems (see e.g., [242–246]) that performs well in practice (e.g., [41, 193, 247–253]).

These numerous applications of IFT to real world problems were possible thanks to the *numer-ical information field theory* (*NIFTy*, [297, 298]) package. *NIFTy* permits the direct implementation of IFT equations by providing the concepts of spaces, fields living over the spaces, and operators acting on the fields in a transparent, abstract and object oriented manner to the programmer, thereby alleviating the need to think about the properties of a chosen space pixelisation. In order to be prepared for the task of reconstructing the 3D GMF, *NIFTy* was recently parallelised [284] and rewritten [283] such that it can comfortably deal with vector valued fields. For a non-parametric GMF reconstruction, the handling of large datasets needs to be mastered as well as the vector nature of the magnetic fields. For both challenges, preparations are under way.

6 IMAGINE Consortium

The IMAGINE Consortium was conceived as an informal collaboration of astronomers, astrophysicists, experimental and theoretical physicists and applied mathematicians who share interest and expertise in the broad range of problems related to Galactic magnetic fields.

The collaboration that has developed into the IMAGINE Consortium started with the International Team Meeting, "Bayesian modelling of the Galactic Magnetic Field Constrained by Space and Ground-Based Radio-Millimetre and Ultra-High Energy Cosmic Ray Data" hosted in 2014/15 by the International Space Science Institute in Bern, Switzerland¹³. The next milestone was a workshop hosted in 2017 by the Lorentz Center in Leiden, the Netherlands¹⁴, titled "A Bayesian View on the Galactic Magnetic Field: From Faraday Rotation to Ultra-High Energy Cosmic Ray Deflections", where the IMAGINE Consortium was formally founded. The goals of the consortium are:

- to reveal the 3D structure of the Galactic magnetic field;
- to achieve a comprehensive understanding of the non-thermal ISM joining the observational and theoretical efforts of the participants in the studies of the ISM, GMF and cosmic rays;
- to support theoretical and experimental efforts to identify the sources of UHECRs;
- to develop novel methods to infer the GMF and other ISM components that exploit and fuse information from observations, theory, and simulations;
- to develop, maintain and promote the IMAGINE pipeline as a standard Bayesian framework;
- to encourage interaction between distinct research areas and cross-disciplinary knowledge transfer.

The IMAGINE Consortium is led by a PI team consisting of François Boulanger, Torsten Enßlin, Marijke Haverkorn, Jörg Hörandel, Tess Jaffe, Jens Jasche, Jörg Paul Rachen and Anvar Shukurov, and is open to new members. Information about the consortium activities and information on how to become a member will soon be available at the *IMAGINE* webpage.¹⁵

¹³http://www.issibern.ch/teams/bayesianmodel

¹⁴http://www.lorentzcenter.nl/lc/web/2017/880//info.php3?wsid=880&venue=Snellius

¹⁵https://www.astro.ru.nl/imagine/

Acknowledgments

We thank the International Space Science Institute in Bern, Switzerland, and the Lorentz Center in Leiden, the Netherlands, for the hospitality and financial support that has led to the founding of the IMAGINE Consortium. We thank Sebastian Hutschenreuter for providing figure 11, and Franco Vazza for providing figure 10 based on simulations done with the ENZO code¹⁶ [299]. TE and TS acknowledge partly support by the DFG Cluster of Excellence "Origin and Structure of the Universe" and by the DFG Research Unit 1254 "Magnetisation of Interstellar and Intergalactic Media – The Prospects of Low-Frequency Radio Observations". AF, LFSR and AS thank STFC (ST/N00900/1) and The Leverhulme Trust (RPG-2014-427) for funding. PG and CP acknowledge support by the European Research Council under ERC-CoG grant CRAGSMAN-646955. BR-G acknowledges support from the European Union's Horizon 2020 project RADIOFOREGROUNDS under grant agreement number 687312. GS is supported by the DFG through collaborative research centre SFB 676 "Particles, Strings and the Early Universe" and by the Bundesministerium fur Bildung und Forschung (BMBF) through grant 05 A17GU1. TS was supported by the Studienstiftung des deutschen Volkes. AvV acknowledges financial support from the NWO astroparticle physics grant WARP.

References

- T. Steininger, T. A. Enßlin, M. Greiner, T. Jaffe, E. van der Velden, J. Wang et al., Inferring Galactic magnetic field model parameters using IMAGINE - an Interstellar MAGnetic field INference Engine, Submitted to A&A (2018) [1801.04341].
- [2] L. F. S. Rodrigues, R. S. de Souza and R. Opher, Suppression of small baryonic structures due to a primordial magnetic field, MNRAS 406 (2010) 482 [1003.2829].
- [3] Y. Birnboim, *Magnetically regulated gas accretion in high-redshift galactic disks*, *ApJ* **702** (2009) L101 [0908.1786].
- [4] K. M. Ferrière, M.-M. Mac Low and E. G. Zweibel, *Expansion of a superbubble in a uniform magnetic field*, ApJ 375 (1991) 239.
- [5] H. Hanayama and K. Tomisaka, Long-term evolution of supernova remnants in magnetized interstellar medium, ApJ 641 (2006) 905 [astro-ph/0507421].
- [6] C. C. Evirgen, F. A. Gent, A. Shukurov, A. Fletcher and P. Bushby, *The supernova-regulated ISM III. Effects of an evolving magnetic field on the multi-phase ISM, submitted to MNRAS* (2017).
- [7] S. Samui, K. Subramanian and R. Srianand, *Cosmic ray driven outflows from high-redshift galaxies*, MNRAS 402 (2010) 2778 [0909.3854].
- [8] J. Wiener, C. Pfrommer and S. P. Oh, Cosmic ray-driven galactic winds: streaming or diffusion?, MNRAS 467 (2017) 906 [1608.02585].
- [9] E. N. Parker, Cosmical magnetic fields: their origin and their activity. Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1979.
- [10] D. P. Cox, The three-phase interstellar medium revisited, ARA&A 43 (2005) 337.
- [11] Y. Birnboim, S. Balberg and R. Teyssier, *Galaxy evolution: modelling the role of non-thermal pressure in the interstellar medium*, *MNRAS* **447** (2015) 3678 [1311.1206].
- [12] L. F. S. Rodrigues, A. Shukurov, A. Fletcher and C. M. Baugh, Galactic magnetic fields and hierarchical galaxy formation, MNRAS 450 (2015) 3472 [1501.00690].
- [13] M.-M. Mac Low, Magnetic effects in global star formation, in Rev. Mex. Ast. Astr., vol. 36, pp. 121–127, 2009 [0804.2278].

¹⁶http://cosmosimfrazza.myfreesites.net/erc-magcow

- [14] R. M. Crutcher, Magnetic fields in molecular clouds, ARA&A 50 (2012) 29.
- [15] V. S. Berezinskiĭ, S. V. Bulanov, V. A. Dogiel, V. L. Ginzburg and V. S. Ptuskin, Astrophysics of cosmic rays. North Holland, Amsterdam, 1990.
- [16] R. Schlickeiser, Cosmic ray astrophysics. Springer, Berlin, 2002.
- [17] A. Shalchi, Nonlinear cosmic ray diffusion theories. Springer, Berlin, 2009.
- [18] D. Breitschwerdt and S. Komossa, Galactic fountains and galactic winds, Ap&SS 272 (2000) 3 [astro-ph/9908003].
- [19] J. E. Everett, E. G. Zweibel, R. A. Benjamin, D. McCammon, L. Rocks and J. S. Gallagher III, *The Milky Way's kiloparsec-scale wind: a hybrid cosmic-ray and thermally driven outflow*, *ApJ* 674 (2008) 258 [0710.3712].
- [20] M. Uhlig, C. Pfrommer, M. Sharma, B. B. Nath, T. A. Enßlin and V. Springel, Galactic winds driven by cosmic ray streaming, MNRAS 423 (2012) 2374 [1203.1038].
- [21] C. M. Booth, O. Agertz, A. V. Kravtsov and N. Y. Gnedin, Simulations of disk galaxies with cosmic ray driven galactic winds, ApJ 777 (2013) L16 [1308.4974].
- [22] P. Girichidis, T. Naab, S. Walch, M. Hanasz, M.-M. Mac Low, J. P. Ostriker et al., *Launching cosmic-ray-driven outflows from the magnetized interstellar medium*, *ApJ* 816 (2016) L19 [1509.07247].
- [23] R. Pakmor, C. Pfrommer, C. M. Simpson and V. Springel, *Galactic winds driven by isotropic and anisotropic cosmic-ray diffusion in disk galaxies*, *ApJ* **824** (2016) L30 [1605.00643].
- [24] C. M. Simpson, R. Pakmor, F. Marinacci, C. Pfrommer, V. Springel, S. C. O. Glover et al., *The role of cosmic-ray pressure in accelerating galactic outflows*, *ApJ* 827 (2016) L29 [1606.02324].
- [25] S. Veilleux, G. Cecil and J. Bland-Hawthorn, *Galactic winds*, ARA&A 43 (2005) 769 [astro-ph/0504435].
- [26] M. E. Putman, J. E. G. Peek and M. R. Joung, *Gaseous galaxy halos*, ARA&A 50 (2012) 491 [1207.4837].
- [27] E. G. Zweibel, The microphysics and macrophysics of cosmic rays, Phys. Plasmas 20 (2013) 055501.
- [28] G. Giacinti, M. Kachelrieß and D. V. Semikoz, Escape model for Galactic cosmic rays and an early extragalactic transition, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 083009 [1502.01608].
- [29] M. Ahlers and P. Mertsch, Origin of small-scale anisotropies in Galactic cosmic rays, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 94 (2017) 184 [1612.01873].
- [30] A. W. Strong, I. V. Moskalenko and V. S. Ptuskin, Cosmic-ray propagation and interactions in the Galaxy, Annu. Rev. Nucl. Part. S. 57 (2007) 285 [astro-ph/0701517].
- [31] A. Obermeier, P. Boyle, J. Hörandel and D. Müller, *The boron-to-carbon abundance ratio and Galactic propagation of cosmic radiation*, *ApJ* **752** (2012) 69 [1204.6188].
- [32] T. Antoni, W. D. Apel, A. F. Badea, K. Bekk, A. Bercuci, J. Blümer et al., KASCADE measurements of energy spectra for elemental groups of cosmic rays: Results and open problems, Astropart. Phys. 24 (2005) 1 [astro-ph/0505413].
- [33] J. R. Hörandel, *Cosmic-ray composition and its relation to shock acceleration by supernova remnants*, *Adv. Space Res.* **41** (2008) 442 [astro-ph/0702370].
- [34] J. R. Hörandel, *Models of the knee in the energy spectrum of cosmic rays*, *Astropart. Phys.* **21** (2004) 241 [astro-ph/0402356].
- [35] F. Aharonian, A. G. Akhperjanian, A. R. Bazer-Bachi, M. Beilicke, W. Benbow, D. Berge et al., A detailed spectral and morphological study of the gamma-ray supernova remnant RX J1713.7-3946 with HESS, A&A 449 (2006) 223 [astro-ph/0511678].

- [36] M. Amenomori, X. J. Bi, D. Chen, S. W. Cui, Danzengluobu, L. K. Ding et al., On temporal variations of the multi-TeV cosmic ray anisotropy using the Tibet III air shower array, ApJ 711 (2010) 119 [1001.2646].
- [37] M. G. Aartsen, K. Abraham, M. Ackermann, J. Adams, J. A. Aguilar and et al., Anisotropy in cosmic-ray arrival directions in the southern hemisphere based on six years of data from the IceCube detector, ApJ 826 (2016) 220 [1603.01227].
- [38] M. Haverkorn, Magnetic fields in the Milky Way, in Magnetic fields in diffuse media, vol. 407 of Astrophys. Space Sc. L., p. 483, 2015 [1406.0283], https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-44625-6_17.
- [39] U. Klein and A. Fletcher, Galactic and intergalactic magnetic fields. Springer, Switzerland, 2015.
- [40] R. Beck, Magnetic fields in spiral galaxies, A&A Rev. 24 (2016) 4 [1509.04522].
- [41] N. Oppermann, H. Junklewitz, G. Robbers, M. R. Bell, T. A. Enßlin, A. Bonafede et al., An improved map of the Galactic Faraday sky, A&A 542 (2012) A93 [1111.6186].
- [42] B. J. Burn, On the depolarization of discrete radio sources by Faraday dispersion, MNRAS 133 (1966)
 67.
- [43] M. A. Brentjens and A. G. de Bruyn, Faraday rotation measure synthesis, A&A 441 (2005) 1217 [astro-ph/0507349].
- [44] R. Beck, A. Shukurov, D. Sokoloff and R. Wielebinski, Systematic bias in interstellar magnetic field estimates, A&A 411 (2003) 99 [astro-ph/0307330].
- [45] A. Seta, A. Shukurov, T. S. Wood, P. J. Bushby and A. P. Snodin, *Relative distribution of cosmic rays and magnetic fields*, *MNRAS* 473 (2018) 4544 [1708.07499].
- [46] R. Beck and M. Krause, *Revised equipartition and minimum energy formula for magnetic field strength estimates from radio synchrotron observations*, *Astron. Nachr.* **326** (2005) 414 [astro-ph/0507367].
- [47] R. Stepanov, A. Shukurov, A. Fletcher, R. Beck, L. La Porta and F. Tabatabaei, An observational test for correlations between cosmic rays and magnetic fields, MNRAS 437 (2014) 2201 [1205.0578].
- [48] M. Iacobelli, M. Haverkorn, E. Orrú, R. F. Pizzo, J. Anderson, R. Beck et al., *Studying Galactic interstellar turbulence through fluctuations in synchrotron emission. First LOFAR Galactic foreground detection*, A&A 558 (2013) A72 [1308.2804].
- [49] B.-G. Andersson, A. Lazarian and J. E. Vaillancourt, *Interstellar dust grain alignment*, ARA&A 53 (2015) 501.
- [50] T. Hoang and A. Lazarian, A unified model of grain alignment: radiative alignment of interstellar grains with magnetic inclusions, ApJ 831 (2016) 159 [1605.02828].
- [51] Planck Collaboration, *Planck intermediate results. XIX. An overview of the polarized thermal emission from Galactic dust, A&A* **576** (2015) A104 [1405.0871].
- [52] Planck Collaboration, Planck intermediate results. XX. Comparison of polarized thermal emission from Galactic dust with simulations of MHD turbulence, A&A 576 (2015) A105 [1405.0872].
- [53] P. C. Ashton, P. A. R. Ade, F. E. Angilè, S. J. Benton, M. J. Devlin, B. Dober et al., *First observation of the submillimeter polarization spectrum in a translucent molecular cloud*, *ApJ* 857 (2018) 10 [1707.02936].
- [54] Planck Collaboration, Planck intermediate results. XXI. Comparison of polarized thermal emission from Galactic dust at 353 GHz with optical interstellar polarization, A&A 576 (2015) A106 [1405.0873].
- [55] V. Guillet, L. Fanciullo, L. Verstraete, F. Boulanger, A. P. Jones, M.-A. Miville-Deschênes et al., *Dust models compatible with Planck intensity and polarization data in translucent lines of sight*, A&A 610 (2018) A16 [1710.04598].

- [56] J. D. Soler, F. Alves, F. Boulanger, A. Bracco, E. Falgarone, G. A. P. Franco et al., *Magnetic field morphology in nearby molecular clouds as revealed by starlight and submillimetre polarization*, A&A 596 (2016) A93 [1605.09371].
- [57] C. Heiles, 9286 stars: An agglomeration of stellar polarization catalogs, AJ 119 (2000) 923 [astro-ph/9910303].
- [58] A. Berdyugin, V. Piirola and P. Teerikorpi, Interstellar polarization at high galactic latitudes from distant stars. VIII. Patterns related to the local dust and gas shells from observations of ~3600 stars, A&A 561 (2014) A24.
- [59] D. P. Clemens, A. F. Pinnick, M. D. Pavel and B. W. Taylor, *The Galactic Plane Infrared Polarization Survey (GPIPS)*, ApJS 200 (2012) 19.
- [60] N. L. Chapman, P. F. Goldsmith, J. L. Pineda, D. P. Clemens, D. Li and M. Krčo, *The magnetic field in Taurus probed by infrared polarization*, *ApJ* **741** (2011) 21 [1108.0410].
- [61] M. D. Pavel, D. P. Clemens and A. F. Pinnick, *Testing Galactic magnetic field models using near-infrared polarimetry*, ApJ 749 (2012) 71 [1202.1020].
- [62] T. R. Jaffe, J. P. Leahy, A. J. Banday, S. M. Leach, S. R. Lowe and A. Wilkinson, *Modelling the Galactic magnetic field on the plane in two dimensions*, *MNRAS* **401** (2010) 1013.
- [63] Planck Collaboration I, Planck 2015 results. I. Overview of products and scientific results, A&A 594 (2016) A1 [1502.01582].
- [64] C. L. Van Eck, J. C. Brown, J. M. Stil, K. Rae, S. A. Mao, B. M. Gaensler et al., Modeling the magnetic field in the Galactic disk using new rotation measure observations from the Very Large Array, ApJ 728 (2011) 97 [1012.2938].
- [65] K. M. Rae and J. C. Brown, Constraints on the Galactic magnetic field from the Canadian Galactic Plane Survey, in The dynamic interstellar medium: A celebration of the Canadian Galactic Plane Survey, vol. 438 of Astr. Soc. P., p. 229, 2010 [1012.2934].
- [66] I. Patrikeev, A. Fletcher, R. Stepanov, R. Beck, E. M. Berkhuijsen, P. Frick et al., Analysis of spiral arms using anisotropic wavelets: gas, dust and magnetic fields in M51, A&A 458 (2006) 441 [astro-ph/0609787].
- [67] T. R. Jaffe, K. M. Ferrière, A. J. Banday, A. W. Strong, E. Orlando, J. F. Macías-Pérez et al., Comparing polarized synchrotron and thermal dust emission in the Galactic plane, MNRAS 431 (2013) 683 [1302.0143].
- [68] L. Chamandy, K. Subramanian and A. Quillen, Magnetic arms generated by multiple interfering galactic spiral patterns, MNRAS 437 (2014) 562 [1308.0432].
- [69] L. Chamandy, A. Shukurov and K. Subramanian, *Magnetic spiral arms and galactic outflows*, *MNRAS* 446 (2015) L6 [1408.3937].
- [70] J. L. Han and G. J. Qiao, The magnetic field in the disk of our galaxy, A&A 288 (1994) 759.
- [71] S. A. Mao, B. M. Gaensler, M. Haverkorn, E. G. Zweibel, G. J. Madsen, N. M. McClure-Griffiths et al., *A survey of extragalactic Faraday rotation at high Galactic latitude: The vertical magnetic field of the Milky Way toward the Galactic poles*, *ApJ* **714** (2010) 1170 [1003.4519].
- [72] J. L. Han, R. N. Manchester, A. G. Lyne, G. J. Qiao and W. van Straten, *Pulsar rotation measures and the large-scale structure of the Galactic magnetic field*, *ApJ* 642 (2006) 868 [astro-ph/0601357].
- [73] A. W. Strong, I. V. Moskalenko and O. Reimer, *Diffuse continuum gamma rays from the Galaxy*, *ApJ* 537 (2000) 763 [astro-ph/9811296].
- [74] R. Beck, Galactic and extragalactic magnetic fields, Space Sci. Rev. 99 (2001) 243 [astro-ph/0012402].
- [75] C. Heiles and M. Haverkorn, *Magnetic fields in the multiphase interstellar medium*, *Space Sci. Rev.* **166** (2012) 293.

- [76] Planck Collaboration, Planck intermediate results. XXXII. The relative orientation between the magnetic field and structures traced by interstellar dust, A&A 586 (2016) A135 [1409.6728].
- [77] Planck Collaboration, *Planck intermediate results. XXXV. Probing the role of the magnetic field in the formation of structure in molecular clouds, A&A* **586** (2016) A138 [1502.04123].
- [78] N. M. McClure-Griffiths, J. M. Dickey, B. M. Gaensler, A. J. Green and M. Haverkorn, *Magnetically dominated strands of cold hydrogen in the Riegel-Crutcher Cloud*, *ApJ* 652 (2006) 1339 [astro-ph/0608585].
- [79] S. E. Clark, J. E. G. Peek and M. E. Putman, *Magnetically aligned HI fibers and the rolling Hough transform*, *ApJ* 789 (2014) 82 [1312.1338].
- [80] S. Zaroubi, V. Jelić, A. G. de Bruyn, F. Boulanger, A. Bracco, R. Kooistra et al., *Galactic interstellar filaments as probed by LOFAR and Planck*, *MNRAS* 454 (2015) L46 [1508.06652].
- [81] P. M. W. Kalberla and J. Kerp, Anisotropies in the HI gas distribution toward 3C 196, A&A 595 (2016) A37 [1608.05369].
- [82] P. M. W. Kalberla, J. Kerp, U. Haud and M. Haverkorn, *HI anisotropies associated with radio-polarimetric filaments*. Steep power spectra associated with cold gas, A&A 607 (2017) A15 [1707.05672].
- [83] X. H. Sun, W. Reich, A. Waelkens and T. A. Enßlin, Radio observational constraints on Galactic 3D-emission models, A&A 477 (2008) 573 [0711.1572].
- [84] R. Jansson and G. R. Farrar, The Galactic magnetic field, ApJ 761 (2012) L11 [1210.7820].
- [85] M. Haverkorn, J. C. Brown, B. M. Gaensler and N. M. McClure-Griffiths, *The outer scale of turbulence in the magnetoionized Galactic interstellar medium*, *ApJ* 680 (2008) 362 [0802.2740].
- [86] S. L. Wilkin, C. F. Barenghi and A. Shukurov, Magnetic structures produced by the small-scale dynamo, Phys. Rev. Lett. 99 (2007) 134501 [astro-ph/0702261].
- [87] I. Makarenko, A. Fletcher and A. Shukurov, 3D morphology of a random field from its 2D cross-section, MNRAS 447 (2015) L55 [1407.4048].
- [88] G. Kowal, A. Lazarian and A. Beresnyak, *Density fluctuations in MHD turbulence: spectra, intermittency, and topology*, ApJ 658 (2007) 423 [astro-ph/0608051].
- [89] A. Chepurnov, J. Gordon, A. Lazarian and S. Stanimirovic, *Topology of neutral hydrogen within the Small Magellanic Cloud*, ApJ 688 (2008) 1021 [0711.2430].
- [90] B. Burkhart, A. Lazarian and B. M. Gaensler, *Properties of interstellar turbulence from gradients of linear polarization maps*, *ApJ* **749** (2012) 145 [1111.3544].
- [91] I. Makarenko, A. Shukurov, R. Henderson, L. F. S. Rodrigues, P. Bushby and A. Fletcher, *Topological signatures of interstellar magnetic fields I. Betti numbers and persistence diagrams*, *MNRAS* 475 (2018) 1843 [1708.04558].
- [92] R. Henderson, I. Makarenko, P. Bushby, A. Fletcher and A. Shukurov, *Statistical topology and the random interstellar medium*, *ArXiv e-prints* (2017) [1703.07256].
- [93] F. A. Gent, A. Shukurov, A. Fletcher, G. R. Sarson and M. J. Mantere, *The supernova-regulated ISM I. The multiphase structure*, *MNRAS* 432 (2013) 1396 [1204.3567].
- [94] L. Chamandy, A. Shukurov, K. Subramanian and K. Stoker, Non-linear galactic dynamos: a toolbox, MNRAS 443 (2014) 1867 [1403.2562].
- [95] Ya. B. Zeldovich, A. A. Ruzmaikin and D. D. Sokoloff, *The almighty chance*. World Scientific, Singapore, 1990.
- [96] A. Brandenburg and K. Subramanian, *Astrophysical magnetic fields and nonlinear dynamo theory*, *Phys. Rep.* **417** (2005a) 1 [arXiv:astro-ph/0405052].

- [97] G. Momferratos, P. Lesaffre, E. Falgarone and G. Pineau des Forêts, *Turbulent energy dissipation and intermittency in ambipolar diffusion magnetohydrodynamics*, *MNRAS* 443 (2014) 86 [1502.03624].
- [98] A. Shukurov, A. P. Snodin, A. Seta, P. J. Bushby and T. S. Wood, *Cosmic rays in intermittent magnetic fields*, ApJ 839 (2017) L16 [1702.06193].
- [99] A. A. Ruzmaikin, D. D. Sokolov and A. M. Shukurov, *Magnetic fields of galaxies*, vol. 133. Kluwer, Dordrecht, 1988.
- [100] A. Fletcher, Magnetic fields in nearby galaxies, in The dynamic interstellar medium: a celebration of the Canadian Galactic Plane Survey, vol. 438 of ASP Conf. Proc., p. 197, 2010 [1104.2427].
- [101] A. Shukurov, Mesoscale magnetic structures in spiral galaxies, in Cosmic magnetic fields, vol. 664 of Lect. Notes Phys., Springer Verlag, Berlin, p. 113, 2005, https://doi.org/10.1007/11369875_6.
- [102] A. Shukurov, D. Sokoloff, K. Subramanian and A. Brandenburg, Galactic dynamo and helicity losses through fountain flow, A&A 448 (2006) L33 [astro-ph/0512592].
- [103] C. L. Van Eck, J. C. Brown, A. Shukurov and A. Fletcher, Magnetic fields in a sample of nearby spiral galaxies, ApJ 799 (2015) 35 [1411.1386].
- [104] C. C. Evirgen, F. A. Gent, A. Shukurov, A. Fletcher and P. Bushby, *The distribution of mean and fluctuating magnetic fields in the multiphase interstellar medium*, *MNRAS* 464 (2017) L105 [1608.02398].
- [105] J. W. Armstrong, B. J. Rickett and S. R. Spangler, *Electron density power spectrum in the local interstellar medium*, *ApJ* 443 (1995) 209.
- [106] A. Chepurnov and A. Lazarian, Extending the big power law in the sky with turbulence spectra from Wisconsin Hα mapper data, ApJ 710 (2010) 853 [0905.4413].
- [107] A. A. Schekochihin, S. C. Cowley, W. Dorland, G. W. Hammett, G. G. Howes, E. Quataert et al., Astrophysical gyrokinetics: kinetic and fluid turbulent cascades in magnetized weakly collisional plasmas, ApJS 182 (2009) 310 [0704.0044].
- [108] B. D. G. Chandran, A. A. Schekochihin and A. Mallet, *Intermittency and alignment in strong RMHD turbulence*, ApJ 807 (2015) 39 [1403.6354].
- [109] S. Sridhar and P. Goldreich, *Toward a theory of interstellar turbulence*. 1: Weak Alfvénic turbulence, *ApJ* **432** (1994) 612.
- [110] P. Goldreich and S. Sridhar, *Toward a theory of interstellar turbulence*. 2: Strong Alfvénic turbulence, *ApJ* **438** (1995) 763.
- [111] A. Beresnyak, A. Lazarian and J. Cho, Density scaling and anisotropy in supersonic magnetohydrodynamic turbulence, ApJ 624 (2005) L93 [astro-ph/0502547].
- [112] A. Beresnyak and A. Lazarian, Polarization intermittency and its influence on MHD turbulence, ApJ 640 (2006) L175 [astro-ph/0512315].
- [113] S. Boldyrev, Spectrum of magnetohydrodynamic turbulence, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 115002 [astro-ph/0511290].
- [114] J. Mason, F. Cattaneo and S. Boldyrev, Dynamic alignment in driven magnetohydrodynamic turbulence, Phys. Rev. Lett. 97 (2006) 255002 [astro-ph/0602382].
- [115] Y. Lithwick, P. Goldreich and S. Sridhar, *Imbalanced strong MHD turbulence*, ApJ 655 (2007) 269 [astro-ph/0607243].
- [116] S. Boldyrev, K. Horaites, Q. Xia and J. C. Perez, *Toward a theory of astrophysical plasma turbulence at subproton scales*, *ApJ* 777 (2013) 41.
- [117] S. Boldyrev, C. H. K. Chen, Q. Xia and V. Zhdankin, Spectral breaks of Alfvénic turbulence in a collisionless plasma, ApJ 806 (2015) 238 [1507.00416].

- [118] P. Salati, F. Donato and N. Fornengo, *Indirect dark matter detection with cosmic antimatter*, p. 521. Cambridge University Press, 2010.
- [119] O. Adriani, G. C. Barbarino, G. A. Bazilevskaya, R. Bellotti, M. Boezio, E. A. Bogomolov et al., An anomalous positron abundance in cosmic rays with energies 1.5-100 GeV, Nature 458 (2009) 607 [0810.4995].
- [120] M. Aguilar, G. Alberti, B. Alpat, A. Alvino, G. Ambrosi, K. Andeen et al., First result from the Alpha Magnetic Spectrometer on the International Space Station: precision measurement of the positron fraction in primary cosmic rays of 0.5-350 GeV, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 141102.
- [121] A. V. Filippenko, Evidence from type Ia supernovae for an accelerating Universe and dark energy, in Measuring and modeling the Universe. Pasadena, USA, Nov. 17-22, 2002, pp. 270–290, 2003 [astro-ph/0307139].
- [122] O. Lahav and A. R. Liddle, The cosmological parameters 2006, in Review of particle physics, 2006 [astro-ph/0601168], https://doi.org/10.1088/0954-3899/33/1/001.
- [123] Planck Collaboration, Planck 2015 results. XIII. Cosmological parameters, A&A 594 (2016) A13 [1502.01589].
- [124] K. Freese, Status of dark matter in the universe, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 26 (2017) 1730012
 [1701.01840].
- [125] J. Jasche and B. D. Wandelt, Bayesian physical reconstruction of initial conditions from large-scale structure surveys, MNRAS 432 (2013) 894 [1203.3639].
- [126] J. Jasche, F. Leclercq and B. D. Wandelt, *Past and present cosmic structure in the SDSS DR7 main sample, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys.* 1 (2015) 036 [1409.6308].
- [127] G. Lavaux and J. Jasche, Unmasking the masked Universe: the 2M++ catalogue through Bayesian eyes, MNRAS 455 (2016) 3169 [1509.05040].
- [128] A. Klypin, A. V. Kravtsov, O. Valenzuela and F. Prada, Where are the missing Galactic satellites?, ApJ 522 (1999) 82 [astro-ph/9901240].
- [129] B. Moore, S. Ghigna, F. Governato, G. Lake, T. Quinn, J. Stadel et al., Dark matter substructure within Galactic halos, ApJ 524 (1999) L19 [astro-ph/9907411].
- [130] L. G. van den Aarssen, T. Bringmann and C. Pfrommer, *Is dark matter with long-range interactions a solution to all small-scale problems of* Λ *cold dark matter cosmology?*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **109** (2012) 231301 [1205.5809].
- [131] S. Walch, P. Girichidis, T. Naab, A. Gatto, S. C. O. Glover and R. e. a. Wünsch, *The SILCC (SImulating the LifeCycle of molecular Clouds) project I. Chemical evolution of the supernova-driven ISM*, *MNRAS* 454 (2015) 238 [1412.2749].
- [132] P. Girichidis, S. Walch, T. Naab, A. Gatto, R. Wünsch and S. C. O. e. a. Glover, *The SILCC (SImulating the LifeCycle of molecular Clouds) project II. Dynamical evolution of the supernova-driven ISM and the launching of outflows, MNRAS* 456 (2016) 3432 [1508.06646].
- [133] A. Gatto, S. Walch, T. Naab, P. Girichidis, R. Wünsch and S. C. O. e. a. Glover, *The SILCC project III. Regulation of star formation and outflows by stellar winds and supernovae*, *MNRAS* 466 (2017) 1903 [1606.05346].
- [134] M. Hanasz, H. Lesch, T. Naab, A. Gawryszczak, K. Kowalik and D. Wóltański, Cosmic rays can drive strong outflows from gas-rich high-redshift disk galaxies, ApJ 777 (2013) L38 [1310.3273].
- [135] M. Salem, G. L. Bryan and C. Hummels, Cosmological simulations of galaxy formation with cosmic rays, ApJ 797 (2014) L18 [1412.0661].
- [136] R. Pakmor, F. A. Gómez, R. J. J. Grand, F. Marinacci, C. M. Simpson, V. Springel et al., Magnetic field formation in the Milky Way like disc galaxies of the Auriga project, MNRAS 469 (2017) 3185.

- [137] C. Pfrommer, R. Pakmor, K. Schaal, C. M. Simpson and V. Springel, Simulating cosmic ray physics on a moving mesh, MNRAS 465 (2017) 4500 [1604.07399].
- [138] P. Wang and T. Abel, *Magnetohydrodynamic simulations of disk galaxy formation: the magnetization of the cold and warm medium*, *ApJ* **696** (2009) 96 [0712.0872].
- [139] M. Rieder and R. Teyssier, A small-scale dynamo in feedback-dominated galaxies as the origin of cosmic magnetic fields - I. The kinematic phase, MNRAS 457 (2016) 1722 [1506.00849].
- [140] R. Pakmor and V. Springel, Simulations of magnetic fields in isolated disc galaxies, MNRAS 432 (2013) 176 [1212.1452].
- [141] L. F. S. Rodrigues, G. R. Sarson, A. Shukurov, P. J. Bushby and A. Fletcher, *The Parker instability in disk galaxies*, *ApJ* 816 (2016) 2 [1510.06318].
- [142] C. Pfrommer, R. Pakmor, C. M. Simpson and V. Springel, Simulating gamma-ray emission in star-forming galaxies, ApJ 847 (2017) L13 [1709.05343].
- [143] M. Hanasz, D. Wóltański and K. Kowalik, Global Galactic dynamo driven by cosmic rays and exploding magnetized stars, ApJ 706 (2009) L155 [0907.4891].
- [144] K. Kotera and A. V. Olinto, *The astrophysics of ultrahigh-energy cosmic rays*, ARA&A 49 (2011) 119 [1101.4256].
- [145] S. Mollerach and E. Roulet, Progress in high-energy cosmic ray physics, Progress in Particle and Nuclear Physics 98 (2018) 85 [1710.11155].
- [146] Pierre Auger Collaboration, Measurement of the cosmic ray spectrum above 4 ×10¹⁸ eV using inclined events detected with the Pierre Auger Observatory, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 1708 (2015) 049
 [1503.07786].
- [147] Telescope Array Collaboration, C. Jui et al., Summary of results from the Telescope Array experiment, PoS ICRC2015 (2016) 035.
- [148] Pierre Auger Collaboration, F. Fenu et al., *The cosmic ray energy spectrum measured using the Pierre Auger Observatory*, *PoS* ICRC2017 (2017) 486.
- [149] T. Stanev, P. L. Biermann, J. Lloyd-Evans, J. P. Rachen and A. A. Watson, Arrival directions of the most energetic cosmic rays, Phys. Rev. Lett. 75 (1995) 3056 [astro-ph/9505093].
- [150] Pierre Auger Collaboration, Correlation of the highest-energy cosmic rays with the positions of nearby active galactic nuclei, Astropart. Phys. 29 (2008) 188 [0712.2843].
- [151] Pierre Auger Collaboration, Multi-resolution anisotropy studies of ultrahigh-energy cosmic rays detected at the Pierre Auger Observatory, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 1706 (2017) 026 [1611.06812].
- [152] Pierre Auger Collaboration, Searches for large-scale anisotropy in the arrival directions of cosmic rays detected above energy of 10¹⁹ eV at the Pierre Auger Observatory and the Telescope Array, ApJ 794 (2014) 172 [1409.3128].
- [153] Pierre Auger Collaboration, Indication of anisotropy in arrival directions of ultra-high-energy cosmic rays through comparison to the flux pattern of extragalactic gamma-ray sources, ApJ 853 (2018) L29 [1801.06160].
- [154] Pierre Auger Collaboration, Searches for anisotropies in the arrival directions of the highest energy cosmic rays detected by the Pierre Auger Observatory, ApJ 804 (2015) 15 [1411.6111].
- [155] Telescope Array Collaboration, Indications of intermediate-scale anisotropy of cosmic rays with energy greater than 57 EeV in the northern sky measured with the surface detector of the Telescope Array experiment, ApJ 790 (2014) L21 [1404.5890].
- [156] Pierre Auger Collaboration, Observation of a large-scale anisotropy in the arrival directions of cosmic rays above 8×10¹⁸ eV, Science 357 (2017) 1266 [1709.07321].

- [157] The Pierre Auger Collaboration, *The Pierre Auger Observatory upgrade preliminary design report*, *ArXiv e-prints* (2016) [1604.03637].
- [158] S. Buitink, A. Corstanje, H. Falcke, J. R. Hörandel, T. Huege, A. Nelles et al., A large light-mass component of cosmic rays at 10¹⁷-10^{17.5} electronvolts from radio observations, Nature 531 (2016) 70 [1603.01594].
- [159] Pierre Auger Collaboration, J. Schulz et al., *Status and prospects of the Auger Engineering Radio Array*, *PoS* ICRC2015 (2016) 615.
- [160] K.-H. Kampert and M. Unger, *Measurements of the cosmic ray composition with air shower* experiments, Astropart. Phys. **35** (2012) 660 [1201.0018].
- [161] S. Thoudam, J. P. Rachen, A. van Vliet, A. Achterberg, S. Buitink, H. Falcke et al., Cosmic-ray energy spectrum and composition up to the ankle: the case for a second Galactic component, A&A 595 (2016) A33 [1605.03111].
- [162] G. Giacinti, M. Kachelrieß, D. V. Semikoz and G. Sigl, Ultrahigh energy nuclei in the turbulent Galactic magnetic field, Astroparticle Physics 35 (2011) 192 [1104.1141].
- [163] A. Keivani, G. Farrar, M. Sutherland and J. Matthews, Galactic magnetic deflections of UHECRs including realistic random fields, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 531 (2014) 012003.
- [164] G. R. Farrar and M. S. Sutherland, *Deflections of UHECRs in the Galactic magnetic field*, *ArXiv e-prints* (2017) [1711.02730].
- [165] Pierre Auger Collaboration, J. Bellido et al., Depth of maximum of air-shower profiles at the Pierre Auger Observatory: Measurements above 10^{17.2} eV and Composition Implications, PoS ICRC2017 (2017).
- [166] S. Hackstein, F. Vazza, M. Brüggen, J. G. Sorce and S. Gottlöber, Simulations of ultra-high energy cosmic rays in the local Universe and the origin of cosmic magnetic fields, MNRAS 475 (2018) 2519 [1710.01353].
- [167] G. Sigl, F. Miniati and T. A. Enßlin, Ultrahigh energy cosmic ray probes of large scale structure and magnetic fields, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 043007 [astro-ph/0401084].
- [168] K. Dolag, D. Grasso, V. Springel and I. Tkachev, Constrained simulations of the magnetic field in the local Universe and the propagation of ultrahigh energy cosmic rays, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 0501 (2005) 009 [astro-ph/0410419].
- [169] S. Das, H. Kang, D. Ryu and J. Cho, Propagation of ultra-high-energy protons through the magnetized cosmic web, ApJ 682 (2008) 29 [0801.0371].
- [170] K. Kotera and M. Lemoine, Inhomogeneous extragalactic magnetic fields and the second knee in the cosmic ray spectrum, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 023005 [0706.1891].
- [171] S. Hackstein, F. Vazza, M. Brüggen, G. Sigl and A. Dundovic, Propagation of ultrahigh energy cosmic rays in extragalactic magnetic fields: a view from cosmological simulations, MNRAS 462 (2016) 3660 [1607.08872].
- [172] R. Alves Batista, M.-S. Shin, J. Devriendt, D. Semikoz and G. Sigl, *Implications of strong intergalactic magnetic fields for ultrahigh-energy cosmic-ray astronomy*, *Phys. Rev. D* 96 (2017) 023010 [1704.05869].
- [173] R. R. Caldwell, C. Hirata and M. Kamionkowski, *Dust-polarization maps and interstellar turbulence*, *ApJ* **839** (2017) 91 [1608.08138].
- [174] Planck Collaboration, *Planck intermediate results. XXX. The angular power spectrum of polarized dust emission at intermediate and high Galactic latitudes*, *A&A* **586** (2016) A133 [1409.5738].
- [175] Planck Collaboration, Planck intermediate results. LIV. Polarized dust foregrounds, submitted to A&A (2018) [1801.04945].

- [176] Planck Collaboration, Planck intermediate results. XXXVIII. E- and B-modes of dust polarization from the magnetized filamentary structure of the interstellar medium, A&A 586 (2016) A141 [1505.02779].
- [177] D. Kandel, A. Lazarian and D. Pogosyan, *Statistical properties of galactic CMB foregrounds: dust and synchrotron, submitted to MNRAS* (2017) [1711.03161].
- [178] A. G. Kritsuk, R. Flauger and S. D. Ustyugov, Dust-polarization maps for local interstellar turbulence, ArXiv e-prints (2017) [1711.11108].
- [179] F. Vansyngel, F. Boulanger, T. Ghosh, B. Wandelt, J. Aumont, A. Bracco et al., *Statistical simulations of the dust foreground to cosmic microwave background polarization*, A&A 603 (2017) A62 [1611.02577].
- [180] Planck Collaboration, Planck 2015 results. XIX. Constraints on primordial magnetic fields, A&A 594 (2016) A19 [1502.01594].
- [181] K. M. B. Asad, L. V. E. Koopmans, V. Jelić, A. G. de Bruyn, V. N. Pandey and B. K. Gehlot, Polarization leakage in epoch of reionization windows - III. Wide-field effects of narrow-field arrays, MNRAS 476 (2018) 3051 [1706.00875].
- [182] V. Jelić, S. Zaroubi, P. Labropoulos, R. M. Thomas, G. Bernardi, M. A. Brentjens et al., Foreground simulations for the LOFAR-epoch of reionization experiment, MNRAS 389 (2008) 1319 [0804.1130].
- [183] J. G. Sorce, S. Gottlöber, G. Yepes, Y. Hoffman, H. M. Courtois, M. Steinmetz et al., Cosmicflows Constrained Local UniversE Simulations, MNRAS 455 (2016) 2078 [1510.04900].
- [184] R. B. Tully, H. M. Courtois, A. E. Dolphin, J. R. Fisher, P. Héraudeau, B. A. Jacobs et al., *Cosmicflows-2: the data*, AJ 146 (2013) 86 [1307.7213].
- [185] M. Johnston-Hollitt, F. Govoni, R. Beck, S. Dehghan, L. Pratley, T. Akahori et al., Using SKA rotation measures to reveal the mysteries of the magnetised Universe, AASKA14 (2015) 92 [1506.00808].
- [186] F. Vazza, M. Brüggen, C. Gheller and P. Wang, On the amplification of magnetic fields in cosmic filaments and galaxy clusters, MNRAS 445 (2014) 3706 [1409.2640].
- [187] S. Hutschenreuter, S. Dorn, J. Jasche, F. Vazza, D. Paoletti, G. Lavaux et al., *The primordial magnetic field in our cosmic backyard*, *ArXiv e-prints* (2018) [1803.02629].
- [188] F. Oikonomou, K. Murase and K. Kotera, *Time dependence of AGN pair echo, and halo emission as a probe of weak extragalactic magnetic fields*, *PoS ICRC2017* (2017).
- [189] J. D. Finke, L. C. Reyes, M. Georganopoulos, K. Reynolds, M. Ajello, S. J. Fegan et al., Constraints on the intergalactic magnetic field with gamma-ray observations of blazars, ApJ 814 (2015) 20 [1510.02485].
- [190] A. E. Broderick, P. Chang and C. Pfrommer, *The cosmological impact of luminous TeV blazars. I. Implications of plasma instabilities for the intergalactic magnetic field and extragalactic gamma-ray background*, *ApJ* **752** (2012) 22 [1106.5494].
- [191] A. Neronov and D. V. Semikoz, Sensitivity of γ-ray telescopes for detection of magnetic fields in the intergalactic medium, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 123012 [0910.1920].
- [192] V. Vacca, N. Oppermann, T. A. Ensslin, M. Selig, H. Junklewitz, M. Greiner et al., Statistical methods for the analysis of rotation measure grids in large scale structures in the SKA era, AASKA14 (2015) 114 [1501.00415].
- [193] V. Vacca, N. Oppermann, T. Enßlin, J. Jasche, M. Selig, M. Greiner et al., Using rotation measure grids to detect cosmological magnetic fields: A Bayesian approach, A&A 591 (2016) A13 [1509.00747].
- [194] R. T. Cox, Probability, frequency and reasonable expectation, Am. J. Phys. 14 (1946) 1.
- [195] T. A. Enßlin, M. Frommert and F. S. Kitaura, Information field theory for cosmological perturbation reconstruction and nonlinear signal analysis, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 105005 [0806.3474].

- [196] T. Enßlin, Information field theory, in AIP Conf. Proc. (U. von Toussaint, ed.), vol. 1553 of AIP Conf. Proc., pp. 184–191, 2013 [1301.2556], https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4819999.
- [197] E. T. Jaynes, *Probability theory: the logic of science*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, June, 2003.
- [198] S. Brooks, A. Gelman, G. Jones and X.-L. Meng, Handbook of Markov chain Monte Carlo. CRC press, 2011.
- [199] A. Gelman, J. B. Carlin, H. S. Stern and D. B. Rubin, *Bayesian data analysis*. Chapman and Hall/CRC, 2 ed., 2004.
- [200] M. S. Pshirkov, P. G. Tinyakov, P. P. Kronberg and K. J. Newton-McGee, Deriving the global structure of the Galactic magnetic field from Faraday rotation measures of extragalactic sources, ApJ 738 (2011) 192 [1103.0814].
- [201] C. L. Van Eck, J. C. Brown, J. M. Stil, K. Rae, S. A. Mao and B. M. e. a. Gaensler, Modeling the magnetic field in the Galactic disk using new rotation measure observations from the Very Large Array, ApJ 728 (2011) 97 [1012.2938].
- [202] P. Terral and K. Ferrière, Constraints from Faraday rotation on the magnetic field structure in the Galactic halo, A&A 600 (2017) A29 [1611.10222].
- [203] M. Unger and G. R. Farrar, Uncertainties in the magnetic field of the Milky Way, PoS ICRC2017 (2017) 558 [1707.02339].
- [204] Planck Collaboration XLII, Planck intermediate results. XLII. Large-scale Galactic magnetic fields, A&A 596 (2016) A103 [1601.00546].
- [205] B. Ruiz-Granados, J. A. Rubino-Martin and E. Battaner, Constraining the regular Galactic magnetic field with the 5-year WMAP polarization measurements at 22 GHz, A&A 522 (2010) A73.
- [206] K. Ferrière and P. Terral, Analytical models of X-shape magnetic fields in galactic halos, A&A 561 (2014) A100 [1312.1974].
- [207] A. Bardou, B. von Rekowski, W. Dobler, A. Brandenburg and A. Shukurov, *The effects of vertical outflows on disk dynamos.*, A&A 370 (2001) 635 [astro-ph/0011545].
- [208] B. Uyaniker, T. L. Landecker, A. D. Gray and R. Kothes, *Radio polarization from the Galactic plane in Cygnus*, *ApJ* 585 (2003) 785 [astro-ph/0211436].
- [209] S. K. Choi and L. A. Page, Polarized galactic synchrotron and dust emission and their correlation, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 1512 (2015) 020 [1509.05934].
- [210] Planck Collaboration, Planck intermediate results. XXII. Frequency dependence of thermal emission from Galactic dust in intensity and polarization, A&A **576** (2015) A107 [1405.0874].
- [211] R. Lallement, J.-L. Vergely, B. Valette, L. Puspitarini, L. Eyer and L. Casagrande, 3D maps of the local ISM from inversion of individual color excess measurements, A&A 561 (2014) A91 [1309.6100].
- [212] Planck Collaboration, *Planck intermediate results. XLIV. The structure of the Galactic magnetic field from dust polarization maps of the southern Galactic cap, A&A* **596** (2016) A105 [1604.01029].
- [213] M. I. R. Alves, F. Boulanger, K. Ferrière and L. Montier, *The Local Bubble: a magnetic veil to our Galaxy*, A&A 611 (2018) L5 [1803.05251].
- [214] J. M. Yao, R. N. Manchester and N. Wang, A new electron-density model for estimation of pulsar and FRB distances, ApJ 835 (2017) 29 [1610.09448].
- [215] M. Iacobelli, M. Haverkorn and P. Katgert, *Rotation measure synthesis at the 2 m wavelength of the FAN region: unveiling screens and bubbles*, A&A **549** (2013) A56 [1210.6801].
- [216] V. Jelić, A. G. de Bruyn, M. Mevius, F. B. Abdalla, K. M. B. Asad, G. Bernardi et al., *Initial LOFAR observations of epoch of reionization windows*. II. Diffuse polarized emission in the ELAIS-N1 field, A&A 568 (2014) A101 [1407.2093].

- [217] C. L. Van Eck, M. Haverkorn, M. I. R. Alves, R. Beck, A. G. de Bruyn, T. Enßlin et al., Faraday tomography of the local interstellar medium with LOFAR: Galactic foregrounds towards IC 342, A&A 597 (2017) A98 [1612.00710].
- [218] J. M. Cordes and T. J. W. Lazio, NE2001. I. A new model for the Galactic distribution of free electrons and its fluctuations, ArXiv e-prints (2002) [astro-ph/0207156].
- [219] B. M. Gaensler, G. J. Madsen, S. Chatterjee and S. A. Mao, *The vertical structure of warm ionised gas in the Milky Way*, *PASA* 25 (2008) 184 [0808.2550].
- [220] D. H. F. M. Schnitzeler, Modelling the Galactic distribution of free electrons, MNRAS 427 (2012) 664 [1208.3045].
- [221] A. W. Strong and I. V. Moskalenko, Propagation of cosmic-ray nucleons in the Galaxy, ApJ 509 (1998) 212 [astro-ph/9807150].
- [222] R. Kissmann, PICARD: A novel code for the Galactic cosmic ray propagation problem, Astropart. Phys. 55 (2014) 37 [1401.4035].
- [223] C. Evoli, D. Gaggero, A. Vittino, G. Di Bernardo, M. Di Mauro, A. Ligorini et al., Cosmic-ray propagation with DRAGON2: I. numerical solver and astrophysical ingredients, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 1702 (2017) 015 [1607.07886].
- [224] A. de Oliveira-Costa, M. Tegmark, B. M. Gaensler, J. Jonas, T. L. Landecker and P. Reich, A model of diffuse Galactic radio emission from 10 MHz to 100 GHz, MNRAS 388 (2008) 247 [0802.1525].
- [225] L. Page, G. Hinshaw, E. Komatsu, M. R. Nolta, D. N. Spergel, C. L. Bennett et al., *Three-year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) observations: polarization analysis*, *ApJS* 170 (2007) 335 [astro-ph/0603450].
- [226] Planck Collaboration, P. A. R. Ade, N. Aghanim, M. I. R. Alves, M. Arnaud and et al., *Planck 2015 results. XXV. Diffuse low-frequency Galactic foregrounds*, A&A 594 (2016) A25 [1506.06660].
- [227] M. Wolleben, T. L. Landecker, W. Reich and R. Wielebinski, An absolutely calibrated survey of polarized emission from the northern sky at 1.4 GHz. Observations and data reduction, A&A 448 (2006) 411 [astro-ph/0510456].
- [228] J. C. Testori, P. Reich and W. Reich, A fully sampled λ21 cm linear polarization survey of the southern sky, A&A 484 (2008) 733.
- [229] E. Carretti, S. Brown, L. Staveley-Smith, J. M. Malarecki, G. Bernardi, B. M. Gaensler et al., Detection of a radio bridge in Abell 3667, MNRAS 430 (2013) 1414 [1205.1082].
- [230] O. G. King, C. Copley, R. Davies, R. Davis, C. Dickinson, Y. A. Hafez et al., *The C-Band All-Sky Survey: instrument design, status, and first-look data*, in *Millimeter, Submillimeter, and Far-Infrared Detectors and Instrumentation for Astronomy V*, vol. 7741 of *Proc. SPIE*, p. 77411I, 2010 [1008.4082], https://doi.org/10.1117/12.858011.
- [231] M. D. Pavel, Using red clump stars to decompose the Galactic magnetic field with distance, AJ 148 (2014) 49 [1407.7268].
- [232] A. M. Magalhães, A. Pereyra, R. Melgarejo, L. de Matos, A. C. Carciofi, F. F. C. Benedito et al., A southern optical/infrared survey of interstellar polarization, in Astronomical Polarimetry: Current Status and Future Directions, vol. 343 of ASP Conf. Proc., p. 305, 2005.
- [233] A. M. Magalhães, SOUTH POL: revealing the polarized southern sky, in Rev. Mex. Astron. Astr., vol. 44, pp. 209–209, 2014.
- [234] L. Lindegren, U. Lammers, U. Bastian, J. Hernández, S. Klioner, D. Hobbs et al., Gaia data release 1. Astrometry: one billion positions, two million proper motions and parallaxes, A&A 595 (2016) A4 [1609.04303].

- [235] R. Lallement, L. Capitanio, L. Ruiz-Dern, C. Danielski, C. Babusiaux, J. L. Vergely et al., 3D maps of interstellar dust in the Local Arm: using Gaia, 2MASS and APOGEE-DR14, submitted to A&A (2018) [1804.06060].
- [236] G. M. Green, E. F. Schlafly, D. Finkbeiner, H.-W. Rix, N. Martin, W. Burgett et al., *Galactic reddening in 3D from stellar photometry an improved map, submitted to MNRAS* (2018) [1801.03555].
- [237] G. Zasowski, B. Ménard, D. Bizyaev, D. A. García-Hernández, A. E. García Pérez and et al., *Mapping the interstellar medium with near-infrared diffuse interstellar bands*, *ApJ* **798** (2015) 35 [1406.1195].
- [238] G. R. Farrar, R. Jansson, I. J. Feain and B. M. Gaensler, *Galactic magnetic deflections and Centaurus A as a UHECR source, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys.* **1301** (2013) 023 [1211.7086].
- [239] T. Winchen, The principal axes of the directional energy distribution of cosmic rays measured with the Pierre Auger Observatory, Ph.D. thesis, RWTH Aachen, 2013, https://publications.rwth-aachen.de/record/229361.
- [240] Pierre Auger Collaboration, Inferences on mass composition and tests of hadronic interactions from 0.3 to 100 EeV using the water-Cherenkov detectors of the Pierre Auger Observatory, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 122003.
- [241] R. Alves Batista, A. Dundovic, M. Erdmann, K.-H. Kampert, D. Kuempel, G. Müller et al., *CRPropa* 3 - a public astrophysical simulation framework for propagating extraterrestrial ultra-high energy particles, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 1605 (2016) 038 [1603.07142].
- [242] T. A. Enßlin and C. Weig, *Inference with minimal Gibbs free energy in information field theory*, *Phys. Rev. E* 82 (2010) 051112 [1004.2868].
- [243] T. A. Enßlin and M. Frommert, Reconstruction of signals with unknown spectra in information field theory with parameter uncertainty, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 105014 [1002.2928].
- [244] N. Oppermann, G. Robbers and T. A. Enßlin, *Reconstructing signals from noisy data with unknown signal and noise covariance*, *Phys. Rev. E* 84 (2011) 041118 [1107.2384].
- [245] N. Oppermann, M. Selig, M. R. Bell and T. A. Enßlin, Reconstruction of Gaussian and log-normal fields with spectral smoothness, Phys. Rev. E 87 (2013) 032136 [1210.6866].
- [246] T. A. Enßlin and J. Knollmüller, Correlated signal inference by free energy exploration, ArXiv e-prints (2016) [1612.08406].
- [247] N. Oppermann, H. Junklewitz, G. Robbers and T. A. Enßlin, *Probing magnetic helicity with synchrotron radiation and Faraday rotation*, A&A 530 (2011) A89 [1008.1246].
- [248] H. Junklewitz, M. R. Bell and T. Enßlin, A new approach to multifrequency synthesis in radio interferometry, A&A 581 (2015) A59 [1401.4711].
- [249] N. Oppermann, H. Junklewitz, M. Greiner, T. A. Enβlin, T. Akahori, E. Carretti et al., *Estimating extragalactic Faraday rotation*, A&A 575 (2015) A118 [1404.3701].
- [250] M. Selig, V. Vacca, N. Oppermann and T. A. Enßlin, *The denoised, deconvolved, and decomposed Fermi γ-ray sky. An application of the D³PO algorithm, A&A* 581 (2015) A126 [1410.4562].
- [251] M. Greiner, D. H. F. M. Schnitzeler and T. A. Enßlin, *Tomography of the Galactic free electron density with the Square Kilometer Array*, A&A 590 (2016) A59 [1512.03480].
- [252] M. Greiner, V. Vacca, H. Junklewitz and T. A. Enßlin, fastRESOLVE: fast Bayesian imaging for aperture synthesis in radio astronomy, ArXiv e-prints (2016) [1605.04317].
- [253] H. Junklewitz, M. R. Bell, M. Selig and T. A. Enßlin, RESOLVE: a new algorithm for aperture synthesis imaging of extended emission in radio astronomy, A&A 586 (2016) A76 [1311.5282].
- [254] M. Selig and T. A. Enßlin, Denoising, deconvolving, and decomposing photon observations. Derivation of the D³PO algorithm, A&A 574 (2015) A74 [1311.1888].

- [255] M. L. Bernet, F. Miniati, S. J. Lilly, P. P. Kronberg and M. Dessauges-Zavadsky, Strong magnetic fields in normal galaxies at high redshift, Nature 454 (2008) 302 [0807.3347].
- [256] R. Beck, Magnetic fields in spiral galaxies, A&A Rev. 24 (2015) 4 [1509.04522].
- [257] A. M. Hillas, The origin of ultra-high-energy cosmic rays, ARA&A 22 (1984) 425.
- [258] K. Kotera, E. Amato and P. Blasi, The fate of ultrahigh energy nuclei in the immediate environment of young fast-rotating pulsars, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 1508 (2015) 026 [1503.07907].
- [259] M. Lemoine, K. Kotera and J. Pétri, On ultra-high energy cosmic ray acceleration at the termination shock of young pulsar winds, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 1507 (2015) 016 [1409.0159].
- [260] R. Alves Batista and J. Silk, Ultrahigh-energy cosmic rays from tidally-ignited white dwarfs, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 103003 [1702.06978].
- [261] D. Biehl, D. Boncioli, C. Lunardini and W. Winter, *Tidally disrupted stars as a possible origin of both cosmic rays and neutrinos at the highest energies*, *ArXiv e-prints* (2017) [1711.03555].
- [262] C. Guépin, K. Kotera, E. Barausse, K. Fang and K. Murase, *Ultra-high energy cosmic rays and neutrinos from tidal disruptions by massive black holes*, *ArXiv e-prints* (2017) [1711.11274].
- [263] E. Waxman, Cosmological gamma-ray bursts and the highest energy cosmic rays, Phys. Rev. Lett. 75 (1995) 386 [astro-ph/9505082].
- [264] J. P. Rachen and P. Mészáros, Cosmic rays and neutrinos from gamma-ray bursts, vol. 428 of AIP Conf. Proc., pp. 776–780, 4th Hunstville Symposium, 1998 [astro-ph/9811266], https://doi.org/10.1063/1.55402.
- [265] N. Globus, D. Allard, R. Mochkovitch and E. Parizot, UHECR acceleration at GRB internal shocks, MNRAS 451 (2015) 751 [1409.1271].
- [266] B. T. Zhang, K. Murase, S. S. Kimura, S. Horiuchi and P. Mészáros, Low-luminosity gamma-ray bursts as the sources of ultrahigh-energy cosmic ray nuclei, ArXiv e-prints (2017) [1712.09984].
- [267] J. P. Rachen and P. L. Biermann, Extragalactic ultra-high energy cosmic-rays part one contribution from hot spots in Fr-II radio galaxies, A&A 272 (1993) 161 [astro-ph/9301010].
- [268] J. P. Rachen, T. Stanev and P. L. Biermann, *Extragalactic ultra-high energy cosmic rays. II. comparison with experimental data*, A&A 273 (1993) 377 [astro-ph/9302005].
- [269] G. R. Farrar and A. Gruzinov, *Giant AGN flares and cosmic ray bursts*, *ApJ* 693 (2009) 329 [0802.1074].
- [270] B. Eichmann, J. P. Rachen, L. Merten, A. van Vliet and J. Becker Tjus, Ultra-high-energy cosmic rays from radio galaxies, J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 1802 (2018) 036 [1701.06792].
- [271] J. P. Rachen, Ultra-high energy cosmic rays from radio galaxies revisited, in Challenges in Particle Astrophysics, vol. XX of Recontres de Blois, 2008 [0808.0349].
- [272] C. A. Norman, D. B. Melrose and A. Achterberg, *The origin of cosmic rays above* 10^{18.5} eV, ApJ 454 (1995) 60.
- [273] H. Kang, D. Ryu and T. W. Jones, Cluster accretion shocks as possible acceleration sites for ultra-high-energy protons below the Greisen cut-off, ApJ 456 (1996) 422 [astro-ph/9507113].
- [274] H. Kang, J. P. Rachen and P. L. Biermann, *Contributions to the cosmic ray flux above the ankle:* clusters of galaxies, MNRAS 286 (1997) 257 [astro-ph/9608071].
- [275] J. P. Rachen, Universal prior to ultra-high energy cosmic ray production, Talk presented at the 28th Texas Symposium on Relativistic Astrophysics, Geneva, Switzerland, 13–18 December 2015.
- [276] M. G. Aartsen, M. Ackermann, J. Adams, J. A. Aguilar, M. Ahlers, M. Ahrens et al., Observation of high-energy astrophysical neutrinos in three years of IceCube data, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 101101 [1405.5303].

- [277] F. Acero, M. Ackermann, M. Ajello, A. Albert, W. B. Atwood, M. Axelsson et al., *Fermi Large Area Telescope third source catalog*, *ApJS* 218 (2015) 23 [1501.02003].
- [278] S. Gabici and F. A. Aharonian, Point-like gamma ray sources as signatures of distant accelerators of ultrahigh energy cosmic rays, Phys. Rev. Lett. 95 (2005) 251102 [astro-ph/0505462].
- [279] K. Kotera, D. Allard and M. Lemoine, Detectability of ultrahigh energy cosmic-ray signatures in gamma-rays, A&A 527 (2011) A54+ [1011.0575].
- [280] E. van der Velden, *IMAGINE: testing a Bayesian pipeline for Galactic magnetic field model optimization*, Master's thesis, Radboud University, Nijmegen, the Netherlands, 2017 [1804.11028].
- [281] J. Buchner, A. Georgakakis, K. Nandra, L. Hsu, C. Rangel, M. Brightman et al., X-ray spectral modelling of the AGN obscuring region in the CDFS: Bayesian model selection and catalogue, A&A 564 (2014) A125 [1402.0004].
- [282] J. Skilling, Nested sampling for general Bayesian computation, Bayesian Anal. 1 (2006) 833.
- [283] T. Steininger, J. Dixit, P. Frank, M. Greiner, S. Hutschenreuter, J. Knollmüller et al., NIFTy 3 numerical information field theory - A Python framework for multicomponent signal inference on HPC clusters, ArXiv e-prints (2017) [1708.01073].
- [284] T. Steininger, M. Greiner, F. Beaujean and T. Enßlin, *D2O a distributed data object for parallel high-performance computing in Python*, *J. Big Data* **3** (2016) 17 [1606.05385].
- [285] A. Waelkens, T. Jaffe, M. Reinecke, F. S. Kitaura and T. A. Enßlin, Simulating polarized Galactic synchrotron emission at all frequencies. The Hammurabi code, A&A 495 (2009) 697.
- [286] N. Metropolis, A. W. Rosenbluth, M. N. Rosenbluth, A. H. Teller and E. Teller, *Equation of state calculations by fast computing machines*, J. Chem. Phys. 21 (1953) 1087.
- [287] W. K. Hastings, Monte Carlo sampling methods using Markov chains and their applications, Biometrika 57 (1970) 97.
- [288] J. Salvatier, T. Wiecki and C. Fonnesbeck, *Probabilistic programming in Python using PyMC*, *ArXiv e-prints* (2015) [1507.08050].
- [289] J. Salvatier, T. V. Wiecki and C. Fonnesbeck, Probabilistic programming in Python using PyMC3, PeerJ Computer Science 2 (2016) e55.
- [290] B. Carpenter, A. Gelman, M. Hoffman, D. Lee, B. Goodrich and et al., *Stan: a probabilistic programming language*, J. Stat. Softw. **76** (2017).
- [291] S. Geman and D. Geman, Stochastic relaxation, Gibbs distributions, and the Bayesian restoration of images, IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell. 6 (1984) 721.
- [292] S. Duane, A. D. Kennedy, B. J. Pendleton and D. Roweth, *Hybrid Monte Carlo*, *Phys. Lett. B* 195 (1987) 216.
- [293] R. M. Neal, MCMC using Hamiltonian dynamics, Handbook of Markov Chain Monte Carlo, 2011 (2012) [1206.1901].
- [294] J. Skilling, Nested sampling, in Max. Ent. 24, vol. 735 of AIP Conf. Ser., pp. 395–405, 2004, https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1835238.
- [295] W. J. Handley, M. P. Hobson and A. N. Lasenby, POLYCHORD: nested sampling for cosmology, MNRAS 450 (2015) L61 [1502.01856].
- [296] W. J. Handley, M. P. Hobson and A. N. Lasenby, POLYCHORD: next-generation nested sampling, MNRAS 453 (2015) 4384 [1506.00171].
- [297] M. Selig, M. R. Bell, H. Junklewitz, N. Oppermann, M. Reinecke, M. Greiner et al., *NIFTY* numerical information field theory. A versatile Python library for signal inference, A&A 554 (2013) A26 [1301.4499].

- [298] M. Selig, M. R. Bell, H. Junklewitz, N. Oppermann, M. Reinecke, M. Greiner et al., *NIFTY: A versatile Python library for signal inference*, Astrophysics Source Code Library, 2013.
- [299] F. Vazza, M. Brüggen, C. Gheller, S. Hackstein, D. Wittor and P. M. Hinz, *Simulations of extragalactic magnetic fields and of their observables, Classical and Quantum Gravity* **34** (2017) 234001.